
 

Full Authority Board Meeting 
Agenda 

 
 
 
Date: Wednesday, March 22, 2023 

Time: 6:45 p.m. 

Location: Hybrid Meeting  
In-Person Cataraqui Conservation Administration Office Boardroom 
and virtually through Microsoft Teams 

 
 
 
1. Roll Call 
 
 
 
 
2. Adoption of Agenda 
 

A. That the agenda Be Adopted as circulated. 
 
 
 
 
3. Declaration of Conflict of Interest 
 
 
 
 
4. Delegation / Presentation 
 

4.1.   Katie Mahon, Senior Manager, Audit, KPMG LLP 
 

➢ Presentation – 2022 Draft Financial Statement 
 

B. That the audited Financial Statements for the fiscal year 2022 of 
Cataraqui Conservation, as presented by KPMG LLP, Be Approved; 
and, 

 
That the Chair of Cataraqui Conservation, Be Directed, to sign off on 
the aforementioned statements. 
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5. Approval of Previous Minutes 
 

5.1.   Minutes of the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board Meeting of 
February 22, 2023 

 
C. That the minutes of the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board 

Meeting of February 22, 2023, Be Approved. 
 
 
 
 
6. Business Arising 
 
 
 
 
7. Items for Consideration 
 
 

7.1.   General Manager’s Monthly Progress Report – March 2023 (report IR-035-23) 
 

➢ Verbal Update – Katrina Furlanetto, General Manager 
 

D. That Report IR-035-23, General Manager’s Monthly Progress Report – 
March 2023, Be Received. 

 
 

7.2.   Administration By-Law Updates (report IR-036-23) 
 

E. That Report IR-036-23, Administration By-Law (By-Law No. 1) – 
Amendments, Be Received; and, 

 
That Revision 5 of Cataraqui Conservation By-Law No.1 
(Administration By-Law), Be Adopted; and, 
 
That amendments to Schedules ‘A’, ‘B’ and ‘E’ to Cataraqui 
Conservation By-Law No.1 (Administration By-Law), Be Adopted. 

 
 

7.3.   Transition Plan – Quarterly Reporting (April 1, 2023) (report IR-037-23) 
 

F. That Report IR-037-23, Transition Plan – Quarterly Reporting (April 1, 
2023) Be Received. 
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7.4.   2023 Afforestation Program - Seedling and Tree Planting Contractor 
Procurement (report IR-038-23) 

 
G. That Report IR-038-23, Afforestation Program - Seedling Procurement 

and Contractor, Be Received; and, 
 

That the procurement of seedling stock from Somerville Nurseries Inc. 
Be Approved; and, 

 
That staff Be Directed to proceed with the securement of a planting 
contractor for the 2023 planting program, with contract extension 
options for 2024 and 2025. 

 
 

7.5.   Automated External Defibrillator (AED) Policy (report IR-039-23) 
 

H. That Report IR-039-23, Automated External Defibrillator (AED) Policy, 
Be Received; and, 

 
That the Automated External Defibrillator (AED) Policy, Be Adopted for 
implementation starting immediately. 

 
 
 
 
8. Minutes (Friends and Foundation) 
 
 

8.1.   Minutes of Friends of Lemoine Point 
 

• December 5, 2022 
 

I. That the Friends of Lemoine Point minutes of December 5, 2022, Be 
Received. 

 
 
 
 
9. Committee Reports 
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10. Announcements or Inquiries / Information

10.1.   Report on Communications (IR-040-23)

J. That report IR-040-23, Report on Communications, Be Received.

11. Motions / Notice of Motion

12. In Camera Session

K. That the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board move In Camera.

12.1.   Confidential Report – In Camera Minutes of February 22, 2023 (report IR-
041-21)

L. That the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board move out of
In Camera and report.

13. Return to Open Session

M. That the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board Approve items
as discussed at the In Camera session on March 22, 2023.

14. Adjournment
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Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

The accompanying financial statements of the Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority (the 
"Conservation Authority") are the responsibility of the Conservation Authority's management and have 
been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. The significant 

accounting policies are described in summary in Note 1 to the financial statements. The preparation 
of financial statements necessarily involves the use of estimates based on management's judgment, 
particularly when transactions affecting the current accounting period cannot be finalized with 

certainty until future periods.  

The Conservation Authority's management maintains a system of internal controls designed to 
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized and 

recorded in compliance with legislative and regulatory requirements, and reliable financial information 
is available on a timely basis for preparation of the financial statements. These systems are 
monitored and evaluated by management.  

The Board of Directors meets with management and the external auditors to review the financial 
statements and discuss any significant financial reporting or internal control matters prior to their 
approval of the financial statements. The financial statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, 

independent external auditors appointed by the Board. The accompanying Independent Auditor’s 
Report outlines their responsibilities, the scope of their examination and their opinion on the 
Conservation Authority’s financial statements. 

 

 

 

    
Katrina Furlanetto, MEnv.Sc.      Cheryl Rider, CPA, CGA, Dipl. M.A. 
General Manager  Supervisor, Finance 
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KPMG LLP 
863 Princess Street, Suite 400 
Kingston ON  K7L 5N4 
Canada 
Tel 613-549-1550 
Fax 613-549-6349 
 
 

KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent  
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee.  
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Board of Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority (the 
"Entity"), which comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022 

• the statement of operations and accumulated surplus for the year then ended 

• the statement of changes in net financial assets for the year then ended 

• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended 

• and notes to the statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies 

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements, present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2022, and its results of 
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public 
sector accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
“Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our 
auditor’s report.  

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.  
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance 
for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 
intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to 
do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial 
reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, 
we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit.  

We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.  
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• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Kingston, Canada 

March 22, 2023  
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Statement of Financial Position 
 
December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 
 
  2022 2021 
 

Assets 
 
Financial assets: 

Cash $ 4,589,673 $ 4,021,538 
Cash held for Source Water Protection 17,860 45,670 
Accounts receivable 243,252 195,446 
Harmonized sales tax receivable 25,049 29,357 
  4,875,834 4,292,011 

 
Financial liabilities: 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 196,986 204,872 
Deferred revenue - other 14,048 48,055 
Deferred revenue (note 11) 983,849 932,046 
Termination and vacation pay 62,945 61,015 
Total liabilities 1,257,828 1,245,988 

 
  3,618,006 3,046,023 
 
Non-financial assets: 

Prepaid expenses 7,720 6,149 
Tangible capital assets (note 2) 10,874,842 10,989,597 
  10,882,562 10,995,746 

 
Commitments (note 13) 

 
Accumulated surplus (note 10) $ 14,500,568 $ 14,041,769 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
On behalf of the Board: 
 
 
____________________  Chairperson  
 
____________________  Chairperson 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus 
 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 
 
  Budget Actual Actual 

 2022 2022 2021 
  (unaudited - 

  note 8) 
 
Revenue: 

Municipal grants $ 2,780,092 $ 2,788,752 $ 2,671,744  
Authority generated (note 3) 2,373,119 1,828,594 1,642,966 
Government transfers: 
 Federal –   226,113 11,295 
 Provincial (note 12) 217,361 227,353 224,837 
  5,370,572  5,070,812 4,550,842 

 
Expenses (note 4): 

Corporate services 1,474,183 937,644   857,583 
Watershed planning and engineering 951,775 952,532 699,550 
Conservation lands 923,301 644,267 593,602 
Conservation areas 565,760 438,820 451,254 
Facilities 344,973 138,715 120,866 
General manager’s office 335,800 286,872 272,512 
Watershed science 307,425 297,695 266,245 
Corporate financing 201,950 227,852 269,311 
Fleet 160,100 107,837 68,351 
Water control structures 92,310 42,989 42,290 
Full authority board and executive 12,995 9,241 8,244 
Amortization –   510,614 498,670 
Projects –   118,982 95,578 
Change in termination and vacation pay –   1,930 (15,921) 
  5,370,572 4,715,990 4,228,135 

 
Annual operating surplus –   354,822 322,707 
 
Revenue related to capital: 

Government transfers – Federal –   91,977 100,000 
Donations –   12,000 110,000 
     103,977 210,000 

 
Annual surplus –   458,799 532,707 
 
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year –   14,041,769 13,509,062 
 
Accumulated surplus, end of year (note 10) $ –   $ 14,500,568 $ 14,041,769  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets 
 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 
(In thousands of dollars) 
 
  Budget Actual Actual 

 2022 2022 2021 
  (unaudited - 

  note 8) 
 
Annual surplus $ –   $ 458,799 $  532,707  
 
Purchase of tangible capital assets –   (395,859) (470,345) 
Amortization of tangible capital assets  –   510,614 498,670  
Change in prepaid expenses –   (1,571) (3,445) 
  –   113,184 24,880 
 
Increase in net financial assets –   571,983 557,587 
 
Net financial assets, beginning of year –   3,046,023 2,488,436 
 
Net financial assets, end of year $ –   $ 3,618,006 $ 3,046,023  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Statement of Cash Flows 
 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 
 
  2022 2021 
 
Cash provided by (used for): 
 
Operating activities: 

Annual surplus $ 458,799 $ 532,707  
Items not involving cash: 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 510,614 498,670 
Changes to financial assets and liabilities: 

Accounts receivable (47,806) (123,312) 
Harmonized sales tax receivable 4,308 (14,971) 
Prepaid expenses (1,571) (3,445) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (7,886) 124,544 
Deferred revenue – other (34,007) 18,391 
Deferred revenue 51,803 (9,368) 
Termination and vacation pay 1,930 (15,921) 

  936,184  1,007,295 
 
Capital activities: 

Purchase of tangible capital assets (395,859) (470,345) 
 
Increase in cash during the year 540,325 536,950 
 
Cash, beginning of year 4,067,208 3,530,258 
 
Cash, end of year $ 4,607,533 $ 4,067,208 
 

Represented by: 
General $ 4,589,673 $ 4,021,538 
Source Water Protection 17,860 45,670 
 

  $ 4,607,533 $ 4,067,208  
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2022 
 
 

Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority (the “Conservation Authority”) was established under the 
Conservation Authorities Act of Ontario. The objectives of the Conservation Authority as stated in 

Section 20(1) of the Conservation Authorities Act R.S.O. 1990 are “to provide, in the area over which 
it has jurisdiction, programs and services designed to further the conservation, restoration, 
development and management of natural resources, other than gas, oil, coal and minerals”. The 

Conservation Authority is a registered charity within the meaning of the Income Tax Act (Canada) and 
is exempt from income taxes. 

 

1. Significant accounting policies: 

The financial statements of the Conservation Authority are prepared by management in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for organizations operating in the local 

government sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered 
Professional Accountants of Canada. Significant aspects of the accounting policies adopted by 
the Conservation Authority are as follows: 

(a) Basis of accounting: 

The financial statements of the Conservation Authority have been prepared on the accrual 
basis of accounting, whereby revenues and expenses are reflected in the accounts in the 

year in which they have been earned or incurred respectively.  The financial statements do 
not include the activities of the Cataraqui Conservation Foundation, a related incorporated 
registered charity.  

(b) Non-financial assets: 

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in 
the provision of services.  They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are 

not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations. 

(i) Tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes all amounts that are directly 

attributable to acquisition, construction, development and betterment of the asset.  The 
cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets are amortized on a straight-line 
basis over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

 
Asset Useful Life - Years 
 
Land improvements 30 years 
Buildings 40 years 
Bridges, dams and docks 10 to 40 years 
Vehicles and machinery 10 to 15 years 
Monitoring and recreational equipment 8 years 
Furniture and fixtures 10 years 
Information technology 5 years 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2022 
 
 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(b) Non-financial assets (continued): 

(i) Tangible capital assets (continued): 

Annual amortization is charged in the first year after acquisition and in the year of 
disposal. Work-in-progress is not amortized until the asset is available for productive use, 

at which time the costs are transferred to the appropriate asset category. 

(ii) Contributions of tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the 

date of receipt and also are recorded as revenue. Similarly, transfers of assets to third 
parties are recorded as an expense equal to the net book value of the assets as of the 
date of transfer. 

(iii) Impairment: 

When conditions indicate that a tangible capital asset no longer contributes to the 
Conservation Authority’s ability to provide services or the value of the future economic 

benefits associated with the tangible capital asset are less than its net book value, and 
the decline is expected to be permanent, the cost and accumulated amortization of the 
asset are reduced to reflect the revised estimate of the value of the asset’s remaining 

service potential. The resulting net adjustment is reported as an expense on the 
Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus. 

(c) Revenue recognition: 

Government transfers and municipal grants and funding for projects are recognized as 
revenue when the transfer is authorized, any eligible criteria has been met and the amount 
can be reasonably estimated. Authority generated funds, generally consisting of user fees, 

are recognized in the period in which the services are performed. Other restricted 
contributions received in advance of the related expenditure are deferred until the related 
expenditure is incurred. 

(d) Deferred revenue: 

The Conservation Authority receives contributions pursuant to legislation, regulations or 
agreement that may only be used for certain programs or in the completion of specific work. 

In addition, certain user charges and fees are collected for which the related services have 
yet to be performed. 

(e)  Reserves: 

The Conservation Authority receives restricted contributions under the authority of provincial 
legislation and Municipal by-laws.  These funds by their nature are restricted in their use, and 
until applied to applicable expenses, are recorded as deferred revenue. Amounts applied to 

qualifying costs are recorded as revenue in the fiscal period that they are expended. 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2022 
 
 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(f) Vacation pay and termination benefits: 

The unfunded liability for vacation pay and termination benefits amounting to $62,945 (2021 - 
$61,015) has been reported as a liability and the offsetting unfunded amount as an amount to 
be funded in future years, a component of accumulated surplus. 

(g) Retirement benefits and other employee benefit plans: 

The Conservation Authority is an employer member of the Ontario Municipal Employees 
Retirement System (OMERS), which is a multi-employer, defined benefit pension plan. The 

Board of Trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for overseeing 
the management of the pension plan, including investment of assets and administration of the 
benefits. The Conservation Authority has adopted defined contribution plan accounting 

principles for this Plan because insufficient information is available to apply defined benefit 
plan accounting principles. The Conservation Authority records as an expense the amount 
paid to OMERS during the year. 

(h) Liability for contaminated sites: 

A contaminated site is a site at which substances occur in concentrations that exceed the 
maximum acceptable amounts under an environmental standard. Sites that are currently in 

productive use are only considered a contaminated site if an unexpected event results in 
contamination. A liability for remediation of contaminated sites is recognized when the 
Conservation Authority is directly responsible or accepts responsibility; it is expected that 

future economic benefits will be given up; and a reasonable estimate of the amount can be 
made. The liability incudes all costs directly attributable to remediation activities including 
post remediation operations, maintenance and monitoring. The liability is recorded net of any 

expected recoveries. 

(i) Government transfers: 

Government transfers are recognized as revenue or expenditures in the year that the events 

giving rise to the transfer occurred, provided the transfer is authorized, eligibility criteria, if 
any, have been met by the recipient, and a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 

(j) Use of estimates: 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and  
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 

amounts of revenue and expenses during the period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2022 
 
 

2. Tangible capital assets: 
 
 Balance at Transfers Transfers, Balance at 
 December 31, and disposals and December 31,  
Cost  2021 additions adjustments 2022 
  
Land $ 7,266,144 $ –   $ –   $ 7,266,144 
Land improvements 11,636,301 116,464 –   11,752,765 
Buildings 1,501,518 17,515 7,613 1,511,420 
Bridges, dams and docks 2,362,245 –   –   2,362,245 
Vehicles and machinery 657,726 61,666 –   719,392 
Monitoring and recreational equipment 244,230 592 –   244,822 
Furniture and fixtures 649,986 59,888 –   709,874 
Information technology 317,163 45,524 –   362,687 
Work-in-progress 44,798 94,210 –   139,008 
 
Total $ 24,680,111 $ 395,859 $ 7,613 $ 25,068,357 

 

 
 Balance at  Transfers, Balance at 
Accumulated December 31, Amortization disposals and December 31,  
amortization  2021 expense adjustments 2022 
 
Land improvements $ 9,132,364 $ 340,089 $ –   $ 9,472,453 
Buildings 1,071,944 28,423 7,613 1,092,754 
Bridges, dams and docks 2,112,752 25,481 –   2,138,233 
Vehicles and machinery 356,151 48,745 –   404,896 
Monitoring and recreational equipment 205,931 11,681 –   217,612 
Furniture and fixtures 514,428 38,011 –   552,439 
Information technology 296,944 18,184 –   315,128 
 
Total $ 13,690,514 $ 510,614 $ 7,613 $ 14,193,515 

 
 

 Net book value Net book value 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022 
 

Land $ 7,266,144 $ 7,266,144 
Land improvements 2,503,937 2,280,312 
Buildings 429,574 418,666 
Bridges, dams and docks 249,493 224,012 
Vehicles and machinery 301,575 314,496 
Monitoring and recreational equipment 38,299 27,210 
Furniture and fixtures 135,558 157,435 
Information technology 20,219 47,559 
Work-in-progress 44,798 139,008 
 

Total $ 10,989,597 $ 10,874,842 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2022 
 

 

3. Authority generated revenues: 

A breakdown of authority generated revenues is as follows: 
 

  2022 2021 
 

Planning and development review $ 453,778 $ 424,870 
Equipment and vehicle rental recoveries 163,746 147,104 
Information technology recoveries 151,174 129,218 
Office cleaning and maintenance recoveries 11,652 12,324 
Outdoor centre 205,850 97,411 
Trees program 150,521 348,380 
Other 41,332 152,192 
Interest revenue 101,217 15,250 
Conservation area revenue 183,239 170,245 
Streamlining development revenue 103,281 –   
Lidar revenue 59,590 –   
Student program fees 55,275 37,392 
Insurance 134,084 94,725 
Property rental 13,855 13,855 
 

  $ 1,828,594 $ 1,642,966 
 

4. Expenses by object: 

A breakdown of expenses by object is as follows: 
 

  2022 2021 
 
Wages and benefits $ 2,462,231 $ 2,204,957 
Materials and supplies 786,473 669,350 
Amortization 510,614 498,670 
Purchased services 385,588 413,947 
Insurance, heat and utilities 309,958 227,429 
Travel and vehicle 135,414 133,158 
Computer supplies and IT support 56,110 51,350 
Property taxes 39,142 38,331 
Other 28,530 6,864 
Change in termination and vacation pay 1,930 (15,921) 
 

  $ 4,715,990 $ 4,228,135  
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2022 
 
 

5. Pension agreement: 

The Conservation Authority ’s employees are members of the Ontario Municipal Employees 
Retirement Fund (“OMERS”), which is a multi-employer pension plan. The plan is a defined 
benefit plan which specifies the amount of the retirement benefit to be received by the employee 

based on length of service and rates of pay. Because OMERS is a multi-employer pension plan, 
the Conservation Authority does not recognize any share of the pension plan deficit of $6.7 billion 
as at December 31, 2022 (2021 - $3.1 billion) based on the fair market value of the plan’s assets, 

as this is a joint responsibility of Ontario Municipal organizations and their employees. Ongoing 
adequacy of the current contribution rates will need to be monitored and may lead to increased 
future funding measurements. The amount contributed to OMERS for 2022 was $144,688 (2021 - 

$155,737) for current service and is included as an expense in the Statement of Operations and 
Accumulated Surplus. 

 

6. Cataraqui Conservation Foundation: 

Contributions were received during the year from the Cataraqui Conservation Foundation in the 
amount of $30,000 (2021 - $20,000) of which $Nil has been spent and $30,000 has been moved 

to a reserve for future educational expenses. 

 

7.  Bank credit facility: 

The Conservation Authority has an approved bank credit facility with its lender in the amount of 
$750,000 of which none had been drawn as at December 31, 2022 (2021 – undrawn). 

 

8.  Budget figures: 

The budget data presented in these financial statements is based upon the 2022 operating and 
projects budgets approved by the Board. These amounts are unaudited. The Conservation 

Authority only prepares a budget for the Statement of Operations, the budget figures in the 
Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets has not been provided. 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2022 
 
 

9. Segmented information: 

The following is a breakdown of revenues and expenses by segment: 
 
  2022 2021 
  Revenue Expenses Net Net 
 
Watershed $ 1,480,878 $ 1,314,216 $ 166,662 $ 398,678  
Conservation lands 1,318,034 1,676,582 (358,548) 52,281 
Fleet 163,815 107,837 55,978 78,753 
General manager’s office &  

FA Board 302,345 296,113 6,232 (41,111) 
Corporate services 1,180,750 974,407 206,343 121,632  
Corporate financing 650,802 227,853 422,949 18,052  
Projects 78,165 118,982 (40,817) (95,578) 
 
  $ 5,174,789 $ 4,715,989 $ 458,799 $ 532,707  
 

21



 

12 

CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2022 
 
 

10. Accumulated surplus: 

Accumulated surplus consists of individual fund surplus and reserves and reserve funds as 
follows: 
 
  2022 2021 
  
Equity in tangible capital assets $ 10,874,842 $ 10,989,597  
Less: Unfunded termination and vacation pay (62,945) (61,015) 
  10,811,897 10,928,582 
 
Corporate Reserves: 

Corporate Financing Reserve  197,310  195,689 
Fleet (Equipment) Reserve 51,015 24,432 
Fleet (Vehicles) Reserve 68,101 88,058 
General Reserve 119,546 142,269 
Data Acquisition Reserve 103,029 83,401 
Information Technology Reserve 75,342 83,805 
Stabilization Reserve 396,651 139,504 
Trust Reserve 349,773 342,859 
Trust Reserve  Mac Johnson Wildlife Area  

Nature Centre Reserve 42,759 41,871 
  1,403,526 1,141,888 

 
Conservation Lands Reserves: 

Boat Ramp and Water Access Point Reserve 8,445 7,945 
Cataraqui Trail Reserve 49,034 64,642 
Friends of the Cataraqui Trail 31,136 16,416 
Conservation Areas Reserve 154,978 88,953 
Facilities Reserve 1,602,740 1,358,282 
Real Property Reserve 270,762 264,931 
  2,117,095 1,801,169 

 
Watershed Management Reserves: 

Forestry Reserve 82,785 105,918 
Watershed Management Reserve 85,265 64,212 
  168,050 170,130 

 
Total reserves 3,688,671 3,113,187 

 
Total accumulated surplus $ 14,500,568 $ 14,041,769  
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2022 
 
 

11. Deferred revenue: 
 
  Balance,    Balance 

  December 31,  Transferred Interest December 31, 
  2021 Additions to income earned 2022 

 
Externally restricted: 

Conservation Lands Reserves: 
Development Review Legal Funds $ 36,658 $ –   $ –   $ 739 $ 37,397 
Boat Ramp and Water Access Point -  

Reserve Leeds and the Thousand Islands 7,630 2,530 –   205 10,365 
Cataraqui Trail Reserve -Crabtree & Rideau  

Lakes Donation 54,605 –   11,338 1,065 44,332 
Lemoine Point Conservation Area Reserve 308,181 22,429 66,106 6,315 270,819 
Lemoine Point Native Plant Nursery Reserve 48,492 1,887 –   985 51,364 
Lemoine Point Workshop Reserve 18,557 7,894 910 472 26,013 
Parrott’s Bay Conservation Area Reserve 157,439 22,948 305 3,521 183,603 
Owl Woods Reserve 8,872 711 356 189 9,416 

  640,434 58,399 79,015 13,491 633,309 
 

Water Control Structure Reserves: 
Sydenham Lake Dam Reserve  53,947  3,510  782  1,156  57,831 
Wilton Road Dam Reserve  14,325  31,832  17,628  615  29,144 
Highgate Creek Channelization Reserve  44,029  1,570  638  918  45,879 
Little Cataraqui Creek Dam Reserve  38,704  8,214  –    917  47,835 
Temperance Lake Dam Reserve  28,205  6,688  –    658  35,551 
Marsh Bridge Dam Reserve  15,134  4,907  –    389  20,430 
Fred Grant Dam Reserve  27,533  6,016  –    639  34,188 
Broome-Runciman Dam Reserve  48,901  8,641  –    1,110  58,652 
Buells Creek Detention Basin Reserve  9,714  5,125  7,213  233  7,859 
Booths Falls Diversion Reserve  11,120  1,791  –    260  13,171 

  291,612 78,294 26,261 6,895 350,540 
 

Total $ 932,046  $ 136,693 $ 105,276 $ 20,386 $ 983,849 
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CATARAQUI REGION CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2022 
 
 

12. Provincial government transfers: 

The following is a breakdown of provincial government transfers: 
 

  2022 2021 
 
Section 39 – flood control $ 56,701 $ 56,701 
Source water protections 143,082 156,481 
Dam maintenance and other 27,570 11,655 
 
  $ 227,353 $ 224,837 
 

13.  Commitments: 

(a) The Conservation Authority entered into a shared services agreement with the Corporation of 

the County of Frontenac (the “County”) for the provision of information services. Under the 
arrangement, the Conservation Authority will become a full participant in the Frontenac 
Municipal Information System (“F.M.I.S”) with the four organizations already party to the 

system. The F.M.I.S provides strategic planning, project management, help desk support, 
network administration and procurement services to the participating organizations. The 
Conservation Authority will be responsible for annual contributions to F.M.I.S equal to 

$109,000 for the first year of participation, declining to a contribution of $90,000 in the fifth 
year of participation. These costs are in consideration of salaries, training and mileage for 
staff resources. In addition to this contribution, the Conservation Authority will be responsible 

for one third of the cost of hardware and software required to support one staff position at 
F.M.I.S. Amounts owing under the agreement will be billed to the Conservation Authority 
quarterly, with an annual reconciliation of costs incurred and amounts paid by January 31 of 

the following calendar year. The arrangement may be terminated by the Conservation 
Authority with eighteen months’ notice. 

(b) The Conservation Authority has entered into a memorandum of understanding (MOU) with 

County for the development of joint administrative building. The design of the building, 
drafting of construction/tender documents, cost estimates and the development of a long term 
lease document are complete. The County is responsible for the costs of the construction 

with the Conservation Authority contributing 31.8% of the total costs, anticipated to be 
approx. $1,418,280. This  payment will be made as part of the monthly lease payment.. The 
Conservation Authority has signed a lease of the Administration building with the County that 

will be updated with finalized costs when the construction and project is complete (anticipated 
December 2023).  

14. Comparative Information: 

Some of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the financial statement 
presentation adopted for 2021. 
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Minutes of the Full Authority 
Board Meeting 

 
 
 
Date: Wednesday, February 22, 2023 

Location: Virtual Meeting through Microsoft Teams 
This meeting transitioned from Hybrid to Virtual at the call of the Chair 
due to potential inclement weather. 

 
Participants: Gary Oosterhof, City of Kingston, Chair 

Don Amos, City of Kingston  
Al Barton, Township of Front of Yonge 
Joan Delaney, Township of Rideau Lakes 
Matt Harper, Town of Gananoque  
Angela Hicks, Town of Greater Napanee  
Katherine Hobbs, City of Brockville  
Cam Kennedy, Township of Elizabethtown-Kitley 
Paul McAuley, Loyalist Township 
Lisa Osanic, City of Kingston 
Paul Proderick, Loyalist Township, Vice Chair 
Ron Sleeth, Township of South Frontenac 
Wendy Stephen, City of Kingston 
Scott Trueman, Township of South Frontenac 

 
Regrets: Jeff Earle, City of Brockville 

Matt Smith, Township of Athens 
 
Staff 
Participants: 

Katrina Furlanetto, General Manager 
Devan Anderson, Administration Clerk 
Tom Beaubiah, Manager, Conservation Lands 
Donna Campbell, Assistant, Chair & General Manager 
Michael Dakin, Supervisor, Development Review 
Shawn Fairbank, Technologist, Water Resources 
Kelsey Guerette, Coordinator, Source Protection 
Steve Knapton, Coordinator, Operations Planning 
Tessa Latchmore, Assistant, Source Protection 
Cheryl Rider, Supervisor, Finance 
Andrew Schmidt, Manager, Watershed Planning & Engineering 
Emily Su, Resource Planner 
Janelle Treash, Resource Planner 

 
The Province of Ontario has eased public health measures regarding COVID-19 
restriction and hybrid meetings are now being offered.  This allows members the option 
of in-person or virtual participation.  However, this meeting transitioned to virtual at the 
call of the Chair due to potential inclement weather. 
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Page 2 of 9  
Cataraqui Conservation – Minutes of the Full Authority Board Meeting 
Wednesday, February 22, 2023 – Virtual Meeting 
 
 
The meeting commenced at 7:28 p.m. following the Cataraqui Source Protection 
Authority meeting. 
 
At Cataraqui Source Protection Authority meeting the Chair announced of the recent 
sudden passing of current member Gordon Ohlke, representative from the Township of 
Leeds and the Thousand Islands.  A moment of silence was observed in honour of 
Gord. 
 
 
1.  Roll Call 
 

There were fourteen (14) members present.  Three were non-voting citizen 
appointees. 

 
 
 
 
2.  Adoption of Agenda 
 

It was noted that Item 13, Return to Open Session recommendation should read 
February 22, 2023, not 2022. 

 
Moved By: Lisa Osanic 
Seconded By: Scott Trueman 

 
That the agenda Be Adopted, As Amended. 

 
Carried 

 
 
 
 
3.  Declaration of Conflict of Interest 
 
 

There was none. 
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Cataraqui Conservation – Minutes of the Full Authority Board Meeting 
Wednesday, February 22, 2023 – Virtual Meeting 
 
 
4.  Delegation / Presentation 

 
4.1.   Recognition of Cataraqui Conservation Staff Years of Service 

 
➢ Presentation – Gary Oosterhof, Chair (Attachment #1) 

 
The Chair, Gary Oosterhof, recognized the following staff members for their 
years of service: 

 
15-years: 
➢ Andrew Schmidt, Manager, Watershed Planning & Engineering 

 
10-years: 
➢ Michael Dakin, Supervisor, Development Review 
➢ Shawn Fairbank, Technologist, Water Resources 

 
 
 
 
5.  Approval of Previous Minutes 
 

5.1.   Minutes of the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board Annual General 
Meeting of January 25, 2023 

 
It was noted that the meeting location should read Hybrid Meeting, In-Person 
Cataraqui Conservation Administration Office Boardroom and virtually through 
Microsoft Teams. 

 
Moved By: Matt Harper 
Seconded By: Katherine Hobbs 

 
That the minutes of the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board 
Annual General Meeting of January 25, 2023, Be Approved, As 
Amended. 

 
Carried 

 
 
 
 
6.  Business Arising 

 
There was none. 
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Cataraqui Conservation – Minutes of the Full Authority Board Meeting 
Wednesday, February 22, 2023 – Virtual Meeting 
 
 
7.  Items for Consideration 
 

7.1.   General Manager’s Monthly Progress Report – February 2023 (report IR-024-
23) 

 
Resolution: 015-23 
Moved By: Don Amos 
Seconded By: Joan Delaney 

 
That Report IR-024-23, General Manager’s Monthly Progress Report – 
February 2023, Be Received. 

 
Carried 

 
 

7.2.   Renewal of Integrity Commissioner Appointment (report IR-025-23) 
 

It was noted that the attachment to this report was confidential, and any 
discussion would be held In Camera.  There were no questions on the 
attachment and the recommendation was carried. 

 
Resolution: 016-23 
Moved By: Paul Proderick 
Seconded By: Ron Sleeth 

 
That Report IR-025-23, Renewal of Integrity Commissioner Appointment 
Be Received; and, 
 
That the renewal appointment of the firm Aird & Berlis as Integrity 
Commissioner Be Approved for a four-year term. 

 
Carried 

 
  

28



Page 5 of 9  
Cataraqui Conservation – Minutes of the Full Authority Board Meeting 
Wednesday, February 22, 2023 – Virtual Meeting 
 
 

7.3.   2022 Year-End – Recommended Discretionary & Obligatory Reserve 
Transfers (report IR-026-23) 

 
Resolution: 017-23 
Moved By: Angela Hicks 
Seconded By: Wendy Stephen 

 
That Report IR-026-23, 2022 Year-End – Recommended Discretionary & 
Obligatory Reserve Transfers, Be Received; and, 
 
That the 2022 Year-End – Recommended Discretionary & Obligatory 
Reserve Transfers identified in this report Be Approved. 

 
Carried 

 
7.4.   Capital Variance Report to February 15, 2023 (report IR-027-23) 

 
Resolution: 018-23 
Moved By: Scott Trueman 
Seconded By: Katherine Hobbs 

 
That Report IR-027-23, Capital Variance Report to February 15, 2023, Be 
Received; and, 
 
That completed capital projects, as outlined in Attachment #1 Capital 
Variance Report to February 15, 2023, Be Closed; and, 
 
That recommended reserve transfers, as outlined in Attachment #1 Capital 
Variance Report to February 15, 2023, Be Completed. 

 
Carried 
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Cataraqui Conservation – Minutes of the Full Authority Board Meeting 
Wednesday, February 22, 2023 – Virtual Meeting 
 
 

7.5.   Proposed Capital Project – Outdoor Centre Storage Improvements (PR 00355) 
(report IR-028-23) 

 
Resolution: 019-23 
Moved By: Lisa Osanic 
Seconded By: Ron Sleeth 

 
That report IR-028-23, Proposed Capital Project – Outdoor Centre Storage 
Improvements (PR 00355), Be Received; and, 
 
That Project PR 00355 –Outdoor Centre Storage Improvements, Be 
Created; and, 
 
That $10,000.00 Be Transferred from the Facilities Reserve for Project 
PR 00355 Outdoor Centre Storage Improvements. 

 
Carried 

 
 

7.6.   Proposed Capital Project –Outdoor Centre Furnace Replacement (PR 00358) 
(report IR-029-23) 

 
Resolution: 020-23 
Moved By: Matt Harper 
Seconded By: Paul Proderick 

 
That Report IR-029-23, Proposed Capital Project - Little Cataraqui Creek 
Conservation Area Outdoor Centre Furnace Replacement (PR 00358), Be 
Received; and, 
 
That Project PR 00358 - Little Cataraqui Creek Conservation Area Outdoor 
Centre Furnace Replacement, Be Created; and, 
 
That $5,000.00 Be Transferred, from the Facilities Reserve to PR 00358 - 
Little Cataraqui Creek Conservation Area Outdoor Centre Furnace 
Replacement; and, 
 
That Evertemp Inc. Be Retained to provide the installation and 
replacement of the furnace. 

 
Carried 
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Cataraqui Conservation – Minutes of the Full Authority Board Meeting 
Wednesday, February 22, 2023 – Virtual Meeting 
 
 

7.7.   Cataraqui Conservation Development Review Activity Report – 2022 (report 
IR-030-23) 

 
➢ Presentation – Janelle Treash, Resource Planner (Attachment #2) 

 
Resolution: 021-23 
Moved By: Joan Delaney 
Seconded By: Wendy Stephen 

 
That Report IR-030-23, Cataraqui Conservation Development Review 
Activity Report – 2022, Be Received. 

 
Carried 

 
 
 
 
8.  Minutes (Friends and Foundation) 
 

There were none. 
 
9.  Committee Reports 
 
 

There were none. 
 
 
 
 
10.  Announcements or Inquiries / Information 
 

10.1.   Report on Communications (IR-031-23) 
 

Resolution: 022-23 
Moved By: Don Amos 
Seconded By: Angela Hicks 

 
That report IR-031-23, Report on Communications, Be Received. 

 
Carried 
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Cataraqui Conservation – Minutes of the Full Authority Board Meeting 
Wednesday, February 22, 2023 – Virtual Meeting 
 
 
11.  Motions / Notice of Motion 
 

There were none. 
 
 
 
 
12.  In Camera Session 
 

Resolution: 023-23 
Moved By: Ron Sleeth 
Seconded By: Scott Trueman 

 
That the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board move In Camera. 

 
Carried 

 
 

12.1.   Confidential Attachment #1 - Report IR-025-23, Renewal of Integrity 
Commissioner Appointment 

 
 

12.2.   Confidential Report – In Camera Minutes of January 25, 2023 (report IR-032-
23) 

 
 

12.3.   Confidential Report – Personnel Committee of February 15, 2023 (report IR-
033-23) 

 
Resolution: 024-23 
Moved By: Katherine Hobbs 
Seconded By: Joan Delaney 

 
That the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board move out of 
In Camera and report. 

 
Carried 
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Cataraqui Conservation – Minutes of the Full Authority Board Meeting 
Wednesday, February 22, 2023 – Virtual Meeting 
 
 
13.  Return to Open Session 
 

Resolution: 025-23 
Moved By: Matt Harper 
Seconded By: Don Amos 

 
That the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board Approve items as 
discussed at the In Camera session on February 22, 2023. 

 
Carried 

 
14.  Adjournment 
 

The meeting adjourned at 8:26 p.m. on motion by Lisa Osanic, seconded by Angela 
Hicks. 

 
 
 
 
Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 

Katrina Furlanetto, M.Env.Sc. 
General Manager 

 Gary Oosterhof, Chair 
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Staff Years of Service 
Recognition
February 22, 2023
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Staff Years of Service Recognition

Andrew Schmidt
Manager, Watershed Planning & Engineering

15 years of service
Congratulations!
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Watershed Planning & Engineering 
 
Andrew Schmidt 
 

- Andrew is celebrating 15 years with Cataraqui Conservation 
 

- As the Manager, Watershed Planning & Engineering, 
Andrew oversees the Watershed Science, Drinking Water 
Source Protection, Engineering, and Development Review 
programs, is responsible for a team of 12 staff and is a key 
member of the Senior Management Team.  

 
- Over the past 15 years, Andrew has held several positions in 

the organization within the Development Review team 
including most recently being a member of the Leadership 
Team. With a background in enforcement, Andrew has 
played a critical role in protecting people and property from 
natural hazards through our regulatory role. 
 

- Andrew has a Bachelor of Arts degree in Geography from 
Carleton University and was a Certified Technician with the 
Ontario Association of Certified Engineering Technicians and 
Technologists for over 20 years. 

 
- Thank you for your leadership, commitment and passion to 

conservation. Congratulations Andrew! 
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Staff Years of Service Recognition

Michael Dakin
Supervisor, Development Review

10 years of service
Congratulations!
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Watershed Planning & Engineering 
 
Michael Dakin 
 

- Michael is celebrating 10 years with Cataraqui Conservation 
 

- Michael first came to Cataraqui Conservation filling in as an 
Ecological Planner for a maternity leave in 2008, and then 
returned as a Development Technician from 2012-2013 
before taking on a role as Resource Planner. In 2022, Mike 
was elevated to Supervisor of Development Review. 

 
- Working within the Watershed Planning and Engineering 

department, his primary role is to oversee the Development 
Review Team. The Development Review Team reviews 
development proposals from a natural hazards and 
watershed health perspective across the Cataraqui region.  

 
- Michael has an undergraduate degree from Queen’s 

University in Geography and a Masters of Planning degree 
from the School of Urban and Regional Planning at Queen’s. 
He is a fully certified Registered Professional Planner and a 
Member of the Canadian Institute of Planners. 

 
- Congratulations on 10 years of conservation Mike! 
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Staff Years of Service Recognition

Shawn Fairbank
Technologist, Water Resources 

10 years of service
Congratulations!
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Watershed Planning & Engineering 
 
Shawn Fairbank 
 
- Shawn is celebrating 10 years with Cataraqui Conservation 

 
- After earning a Civil Engineering Technology diploma from St. 

Lawrence College, Shawn worked for eight years as an 
engineering technologist at Ducks Unlimited Canada, and 
subsequently attained Certified Technician status with the 
Ontario Association of Certified Engineering Technicians and 
Technologists. 
 

- Shawn joined Cataraqui Conservation in June 2012 as a 
member of the Development Review Team, providing input on 
water resources engineering aspects. He also assisted with 
Flood Forecasting & Warning and Water Management.  

 
- Currently, as a member of the Watershed Planning and 

Engineering team, Shawn’s primary focus is on Water 
Management, overseeing and performing dam operation and 
maintenance activities on Cataraqui Conservation’s water 
control structures and related study and documentation to 
support these assets.  His lead role in administering the Flood 
Forecasting and Warning program includes assessing 
watershed conditions, weather forecasts and statements, 
forecasting stream flows, and the review and analysis of past 
events to inform public flood messaging for inland lakes and 
streams and on Lake Ontario and upper St. Lawrence River. 

 
- Congratulations on 10 years of service Shawn! 
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Development Review Service  
2022 Activity Report

Full Authority Board Meeting - February 22, 2023
41
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• Cataraqui Conservation 
Development Review team 
members and roles

• Planning & Regulation
• Challenges in 2022
• How service response time 

is measured
• 2022 application review statistics
• Initiatives for 2023
• Questions?

Outline
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Vacant,                    
Manager 

Watershed 
Planning & 
Engineering

Andrew Schmidt, 
Supervisor, 

Development 
Review

Mike Dakin, 
Resource 
Planner

Hailey Esdon, 
Development 

Officer

Kristen Wozniak, 
Resource 
Planner

Eric Gallaway, 
Development 

Officer

Rhonda 
Roantree, 
Resource 

Planning Clerk

Shawn Fairbank, 
Technologist, 

Water 
Resources

Vacant, 
Technologist, 

Water 
Resources

DRT Team: Jan 2022
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Andrew Schmidt,                    
Manager 

Watershed 
Planning & 
Engineering

Mike Dakin, 
Supervisor, 

Development 
Review

Emily Su, 
Resource 
Planner

Hailey Esdon, 
Development 

Officer

Janelle Treash, 
Resource 
Planner

Eric Gallaway, 
Development 

Officer

Rhonda 
Roantree, 
Resource 

Planning Clerk

Shawn Fairbank, 
Technologist, 

Water 
Resources

Mallory Wright, 
Technologist, 

Water 
Resources

DRT Team: Dec 2022 
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• To prevent the loss of life 
and property due to natural 
hazards;

Purpose of CA Planning and Permitting Roles…
• To conserve the integrity of 

the natural environment.
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• Natural Hazards 

• Natural Heritage 

• Water Quality and Quantity 

2022 Plan Review Interests
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Plan Review Process 
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• Ontario Regulation 148/06: 
Development, Interference with 
Wetlands and Alterations to 
Shorelines and Watercourses

• To ensure that proposed changes 
(e.g. development and site 
alteration) to a property are not 
affected by natural hazards, such as 
flooding and erosion, and that these 
changes do not put other properties 
at greater risk from these hazards.

• To ensure the protection of wetlands 
and their hydrologic function. 

Regulatory Role 
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• Construction of buildings and structures
• Alterations to buildings and structures
• Temporary or permanent placement of 

fill materials
• Site grading
• Sewage systems
• Watercourse and shoreline alterations
• Docks

Staff work with applicants to bring 
applications into conformity with our 
guidelines such that a permit can be 

issued – most applications are approved

What activities are regulated under Section 28?
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Permit Review Process 

Resource Planners Development Officers 

• Inland Works • Shoreline and In-Water 
Works

• Enforcement 
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• Staffing Changes
• Staff transitions
• Training/onboarding new staff

• Engineering Reviews 
• High volume of complex files requiring technical review 
• Transition from external consultant to in-house staff 

• Municipal Timelines for Plan Review
• Continued short response window for submissions 

• 5-year review and update of Guidelines for Implementing O. Reg. 
148/06

• Process is still ongoing including further consultation 

Challenges in 2022
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1. Plan Review Service Response Timing
• Service delivery response timing targets

▪ Meeting municipal timelines
• Municipal timelines

▪ 6–30 days - varies by municipality and application type

2. Permitting Service Response Timing
• Service delivery response timing targets – Conservation Ontario’s Guideline for 

Client Service Standards for Conservation Authority Plan and Permit Review
▪ 28 days from receipt of a complete application for Major projects
▪ 21 days for Minor projects
▪ 14 days for Routine projects 

How Service Response Timing is Measured
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Plan Review - Response Municipal Timelines

Plan Review – Response Timelines for Municipalities (Days)
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5 Year Planning and Permitting Trends
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Planning Permitting
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2022 Service Response Results
Table 1: 2022 Plan Review and Permitting Activity Report
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2022 Service Response Results
Table 1: 2022 Plan Review and Permitting Activity Report
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2022 Service Response Results
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• Adapt to the changing policy 
frameworks under Bill 23

• Work with municipal partners to 
come up with innovative solutions 
to streamline approvals 

• Strengthen our Regulatory 
Compliance program 

• Continue to protect, enhance and 
restore watershed health while 
allowing for sustainable growth 
and development

Initiatives for 2023
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Thank you!

Janelle Treash
Resource Planner
jtreash@crca.ca

613-546-4228 ex. 239

Questions?
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Report # IR-035-23 

 
 
 

Date: March 22, 2023 

To: Full Authority Board 

From: Katrina Furlanetto, M.Env.Sc 
General Manager 

 
 
1.0 Type of Report  

Consent Item ☒ 
Item for Board Consideration ☐ 

 
2.0 Topic 

 
General Manager’s Monthly Progress Report – March 2023 

 

 
 
3.0 Recommendations 

 
That Report IR-035-23, General Manager’s Monthly Progress Report – March 
2023, Be Received. 
 
 
 
 

4.0 Purpose 
 
To enhance the communications from the General Manager’s Office to the Full 
Authority Board through monthly updates on internal and external items. 
 
 
 
 

5.0 Background 
 
At the Request of the Chair, the General Manager provides monthly updates to 
the Board of Directors on internal and external communications, upcoming 
meetings, items to be highlighted for consideration, and updates from across the 
watershed. This will encourage engagement and communication between the 
General Manager’s Office and the Full Authority Board and is a standard item 
within the monthly agenda package. 
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6.0 Strategic Plan 

 
This report supports Goal F in the Strategic Plan, Cataraqui 2020. 
 
To operate an efficient and financially sound organization that provides excellent 
service to the community; promotes best environmental practices; and that offers 
a healthy, positive and nurturing workplace environment for staff, members and 
volunteers. 
 

• Maintain a positive image in the community. 
• Make customer service a top priority in all work areas. 
• Maximize the efficient use of time and resources to avoid waste. 
• Demonstrate leadership in environmental design as well as energy and 

materials conservation. 
• Foster the health, safety, morale and career development of our staff. 
• Maintain up-to-date corporate policies. 
• Maintain internal capacity in support services such as accounting, 

communications, document management, geomatics and information 
technology. 

• Manage capital assets in a long-term, sustainable way. 
 
 
 
 

7.0 Input from Other Sources 
 
A summary of key meetings, internal and external communications from the 
General Manager’s Office is provided below. 
 
Internal 
- Individual monthly staff “Quality Time” meetings 
- Weekly Leadership Team meetings 
- Weekly Senior Management Team meetings 
- Monthly all-staff meetings 

 
External 
- Bi-weekly eastern Conservation Authority General Manager calls 
- Eastern GM Spring Meeting (Outdoor Centre) 
- Bi-weekly Frontenac County Construction Site Visits 
- Latornell Conservation Symposium Steering Committee 
- Frontenac Arch Biosphere Network Board  
- Conservation Authorities University Committee 
- Bi-weekly Conservation Ontario General Manager’s Meetings (Conservation 

Authorities Act Deliverables) 
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- Township of Leeds & the Thousand Islands Council Presentation 
- Municipal meetings on Service Delivery 

 
 
 
 
8.0 Analysis 

 
Updates: 

 
1. Legislation Updates 

 
- Conservation Authorities Act 

 
o The General Manager has been participating in meetings with senior 

staff, member municipalities and Conservation Authorities to discuss 
Cataraqui Conservation’s Programs and Services Inventory update, 
required service level agreements for Category 3 – Locally Supported 
Services, and engaging new Councils to support the implementation of 
the Act’s required deliverables by 2024 

o A quarterly report (IR-037-23, Transition Plan – Quarterly Reporting 
(April 1, 2023) on progress towards implementing the changes within 
the Act has been developed for Board consideration prior to sending to 
the Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry by April 1, 2023 

 
2. Strategic Risk Reporting Bi-annual Update (Attachment #1) 

 
- A summary of organization risks has been developed at the Chair’s 

request and is updated bi-annually  
- Legislation changes continue to be anticipated in 2023 which could impact 

how Cataraqui Conservation provides services across the watershed 
- Two cyber security policies in 2023 were implemented along with online 

training to all staff in 2022 as part of an annual risk mitigation program  
- Enforcement has been added as a risk exposure due to the high number 

of files ongoing and upcoming trial dates 
 
3. Watershed Report Card 

 
- On March 22, 2023, World Water Day, Cataraqui Conservation will be 

publishing a 5-year update of a Watershed Report Card along with other 
Conservation Authorities through Conservation Ontario 

- The Report Card provides a high-level overview of the state of the 
Cataraqui Region watershed based on best available data for themes such 
as groundwater and surface water quality, forest, and wetland conditions 

- Previous Watershed Report Cards can be viewed on Cataraqui 
Conservation’s website: https://cataraquiconservation.ca/pages/watershed  
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4. Social Media Update

- Q1 is a busy time for public programming such as Winter Recreation and
Maple Madness, bringing in high engagement on social media platforms
o Facebook rating activity notes “Over the last 28 days, you typically

published more posts and stories compared to other businesses in this
category”

- Between February 12 and March 11, 2023:
o 13,442 were reached with 79 new followers
o Over 2300 more reaches than the same period in 2022

- Usership:
o Facebook – 4800 followers
o Instagram – 1039 followers
o Twitter – 3,846 followers

5. Staffing

- Janelle Treash, Resource Planner, has accepted a contract extension to
the end of 2023 to support the Development Review team

Upcoming Meetings of Interest: 

• Conservation Ontario Council – April 3, 2023
• Full Authority Board Dinner & Open House – April 12, 2023
• Full Authority Board Meeting – April 26, 2023

9.0 Financial Considerations 

N/A 

10.0 Conclusion 

N/A 

Approved for circulation, 

(Original signed by) 

Katrina Furlanetto, M.Env.Sc 
General Manager 
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Cataraqui Conservation

Strategic Risk Reporting Framework 

Last reviewed: March 2023

Risk Category Risk Exposure Rationale Status Trend

Operational
 Reputational 
Compliance

Asset Management

Significant unfunded capital projects to support infrastructure maintenance 
requirements are to be addressed. Condition assessment updated planned 
for 2023 for water control structures, Cataraqui Trail assets, and facilities. 
Funding strategies being developed as part of long-term asset strategy to 
meet lifecycle demands and legislated responsibility. 

High

Operational Staffing Capacity

Key positions identified to fill in needed skills gaps and address regulatory 
deliverables. Further review to be initiated as a result of legislated changes in 
services. Recruitment continues to be a challenge for skills-based and 
contract positions. 

Medium

Operational Information Management

Risks to cyber security and data management breaches continue to be 
monitored. Staff  implemented a training program in 2022 for the organization 
with best practices / policiees to increase internal awareness with annual 
updates to remain current. 

Medium

Strategic
Financial

Political Capital

New municipal Council member engagement on programs and services 
initiated. Impact of legislated updates yet to be proclaimed (e.g., Bill 23) and 
anticipated for implementation later this year is uncertain and may impact 
services within the organization.

Medium

Financial Funding

Provincial funding support for natural hazards management operations 
uncertain. Municipal cost-sharing agreements for designated programs to be 
negotiated to support continued operations. Self-generated revenue in review 
for community-based programming.

Medium

Reputational
Compliance

Enforcement 

The number of violations through enforcement and compliance efforts across 
the watershed remains high, with more files requiring legal support. Best 
management practices and voluntary compliance efforts are being 
implemented. Two violations have extended to legal trials later this year.

Low

Operational
Financial

Administration Facility 
Transition

Participation and financial strategy approved and lease signed with Frontenac 
County. Construction underway with estimated completion date of Q4 2023.

Low

Operational
Reputational 
Compliance

Property Management

Policies and procedures in place and adhered to. Public safety signage and 
trail accessibility standards under review for all properties. New signs to be 
implemeted spring 2023. Lands inventory and legal agreement templates for 
landowners in development.

Low

Operational Workplace Safety

Health & safety mitigation efforts are in place to meet regulatory requirements 
and best management practices. All required policies are in place and 
adhered to. Health and safety internal audit on policies and procedures is 
wrapping up with a draft policy update in the works. Cataraqui Conservation 
has signed up to the WSIB Excellence Program which provides resources, 
legislative updates, and incentives to implement health and safety protocols. 
An AED machine has been installed in the Outdoor Centre.

Low

Definitions:

Risk Category

Risk Category

Strategic

Reputational

Financial

Operational

Compliance

Impact

Trend Status Quo (No Change)

Risk Exposure Increasing (Action Required)

Risk Exposure Decreasing (Improvement)

Includes legislative compliance to meet regulatory requirements, protection of privacy, political 
capital, legal implications, enforcement

Organizational risk can be categorized as Strategic, Reputational, Financial, Operational, or Compliance depending on the impact to the 
organization.

High (red), Medium (yellow), or Low (green) depending on the likelihood and impact of occurrence and whether risk management activities have 
been implemented or demonstrated to show improvement in the inherent risk exposure.

Risk Exposure Examples

Includes changes in political environment, demographic shifts and changes to the legislative and 
regulatory environment

Includes impacts to the brand, reputation, public image, stakeholder relations, and conflict of 
interest
Includes changes to significant funding sources, variances in revenue and expenditures

Includes impact to information and data management systems, cyber security, occupational health 
and safety, business interruption, human resources, fraud or theft, extreme weather events, 
property hazards, asset management, planning decisions

Attachment #1 - Report IR-035-23, GM Monthly Progress Report - March 2023)
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Report # IR-036-23 

 
 
 

Date: March 22, 2023 

To: Full Authority Board 

From: Katrina Furlanetto, M.Env.Sc 
General Manager 

 
 
1.0 Type of Report 

Consent Item ☐ 
Item for Board Consideration ☒ 

 
 

2.0 Topic 
 
Administration By-Law (By-Law No. 1) – Amendments  

 
 
 
 
3.0 Recommendations 

 
That Report IR-036-23, Administration By-Law (By-Law No. 1) – Amendments, 
Be Received; and, 
 
That Revision 5 of Cataraqui Conservation By-Law No.1 (Administration By-
Law), Be Adopted; and, 
 
That amendments to Schedules ‘A’, ‘B’ and ‘E’ to Cataraqui Conservation By-
Law No.1 (Administration By-Law), Be Adopted. 
 
 
 
 

4.0 Purpose 
 
To seek direction from the Board regarding the approval of Revision 5 of the 
Administration By-Law to comply with legislative changes and reflect proposed 
changes to Cataraqui Conservation’s administrative practices and procedures. 
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5.0 Background 

 
The Administration By-Law was first adopted by the Board on August 29, 2018, 
under report IR-085-20, Administration By-Law No. 1 Amendments, as an update 
to the organization’s administrative and governance framework in compliance 
with changes to the Conservation Authorities Act (CA Act).  
 
Since 2018, the Administration By-Law has had Schedules added to the 
document to provide clarity on specific administrative and governance topics 
(e.g., Code of Conduct, Signing Authorities). 

 
 
 
 
6.0 Strategic Plan 

 
This report supports Goal F in the Strategic Plan, Cataraqui to 2020.  
 
To operate an efficient and financially sound organization that provides excellent 
service to the community; promotes best environmental practices; and that offers 
a healthy, positive and nurturing workplace environment for staff, members and 
volunteers.  
 

• Maintain a positive image in the community.  
• Make customer service a top priority in all work areas.  
• Maximize the efficient use of time and resources to avoid waste.  
• Demonstrate leadership in environmental design as well as energy and 

materials conservation.  
• Foster the health, safety, morale and career development of our staff.  
• Maintain up-to-date corporate policies.  
• Maintain internal capacity in support services such as accounting, 

communications, document management, geomatics and information 
technology.  

• Manage capital assets in a long-term, sustainable way. 
 
 
 
 
7.0 Input from Other Sources 

 
Discussions were had between the General Manager and the Assistant to the 
Chair and General Manager.  
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Conservation Ontario formed a working group to update the Administration By-
Law template which included members from across the province and completed 
a legal review of the template prior to circulating Conservation Authorities. The 
Model By-Law document was circulated with tracked changes as a template for 
Conservation Authority consideration and adoption. 

 
 
 
 
8.0 Analysis 

 
Cataraqui Conservation has updated our Administration By-Law four times since 
2018 to reflect the changing legislative climate. In 2022, Conservation Ontario led 
an initiative to update their Model By-Law template to reflect the following 
changes in legislation: 
 

• Changes to the Ontario Not-For-Profit Corporations Act; 
• Agricultural representatives being appointed by the Minister; 
• Ontario Regulation 400/22 Information Requirements; and 
• Other recommended amendments resulting from legal review and Bill 23 – 

More Homes Built Faster Act 
 

Cataraqui Conservation’s amended Administration By-Law can be found in 
Attachment #1. All amendments are for clarification and shown via “track 
changes”. Sections with amendments include the following: 
 

• Section 1 – Purpose 
• Section 2 – Definitions   
• Section 3 – Governance 
• Section 4 – Meeting Procedures 

 
Schedule ‘A’ - Member Code of Conduct (Attachment #2), Schedule ‘B’ – 
Member Conflict of Interest Policy (Attachment #3) and Schedule ‘E’ – Election of 
Officers (Attachment #4) were also updated to reflect legislative requirements. 
These Schedules were migrated into Cataraqui Conservation’s new templates 
consistent with the logo and branding of the organization. 

 
 
 
 
9.0 Financial Implications 
 

There are no financial implications to amending the Administration By-Law.  
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10.0 Conclusion 
 

These proposed amendments to Cataraqui Conservation’s By-Law will ensure 
the organization maintains compliant with recent changes to legislation and 
provide clear governance direction for future meetings of the Board. 

 
 
 
Approved for circulation, 

(Original signed by) 

Katrina Furlanetto, M.Env.Sc 
General Manager 

 
 
Attachment #1 – Cataraqui Conservation By-Law No.1 (Administration By-Law) 
Attachment #2 - Schedule ‘A’ - Member Code of Conduct  
Attachment #3 - Schedule ‘B’ – Member Conflict of Interest Policy  
Attachment #4 - Schedule ‘E’ – Election of Officers  
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By-Law No. 1 
Administration By-Law 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Document No. By-Law No.1 Rev. 4 5  
Prepared by: Katrina Furlanetto, M.Env.Sc Date: 2021/12/082023/03/22 
 General Manager  (yyyy/mm/dd 
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Adoption / Document Revisions 
 
 

Revision 
Date 

(yyyy/mm/dd) 
Description of Changes Report 

Adopted by 
Full 

Authority 
Resolution # 

0 2018/08/29 Original Issue IR-086-18 079-18 

1 2019/03/27 Minor Amendments IR-024-19 029-19 

2 2020/04/15 Amendment to include virtual meetings 
during emergency 

IR-034-20 036-20 

3 2020/09/23 Amendment to include virtual meeting 
during non-emergency 

IR-085-20 085-20 

4 2021/12/08 Amendment to incorporate current 
governance practices and ensure 
compliance with the Conservation 
Authorities Act Phase 1 of the Regulation 
and minor housekeeping edits. 

IR-115-21 110-21 

5 2023/03/22 Amendment to incorporate legislative 
updates for compliance with the Not-For-
Profit Corporations Act, More Homes 
Built Faster Act and Conservation 
Authorities Act 

IR-XXX-
23 
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1 Purpose 
 
This by-law relates to the administration of the Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority 
(CRCA)(Cataraqui Conservation). 
 
Cataraqui Conservation is a non-share corporation, established under Section 3 of the 
Conservation Authorities Act (the Act), with the objects to provide, in the area over 
which it has jurisdiction, programs and services designed for the purpose of furthering 
the conservation, restoration, development and management of natural resources in 
watershed(s) other than gas, oil, coal and minerals. 
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2 Definitions 
 
“Authority” means the Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority. 
 
“Board” means the Board of the Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority. 
 
“Act” means the Conservation Authorities Act, R.S.O. 1990, chapter C.27. 
 
“Chair” means the Chairperson of the Board.  
 
“Employee” means a person employed by the Authority. 
 
“Fiscal Year” means the period from January 1 through December 31. 
 
“General Manager” means the senior Employee of the Authority. The General Manager 
is assigned the duties and responsibilities of the Secretary-Treasurer of the Authority. 
 
“Integrity Commissioner” means an independent advisor, appointed by the Board, to 
which alleged breaches of by-laws and policies by Members may be referred for 
appropriate consideration and investigation.  
 
“Levy” means the amount of costs apportioned to Participating Municipalities in 
accordance with the Act and Regulations under the Act.  
 
“Majority” means half of the votes of the Members present and entitled to vote at a 
meeting, plus one.  
 
“Members” means the appointed representatives of the Participating Municipalities, or 
an additional member appointed by the Minister from the agricultural sector, and 
effectively act as directors as specified in the Ontario Not-For-Profit Corporations Act. 
 
“Minister” means the Minister as defined in the Act. 
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“Non-matching Levy” means that portion of an Authority’s levy that meets the definition 
of non-matching levy as found in Ontario Regulation 139/96.  
 
“Officer” means an officer of the Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority and shall 
include the Chair, Vice-Chair and General Manager. 
 
“Participating Municipality” means the municipalities that are participating in the 
CRCACataraqui Conservation, which are:  

• Township of Athens; 
• City of Brockville; 
• Township of Elizabethtown-Kitley; 
• Township of Front of Yonge; 
• Town of Gananoque; 
• Town of Greater Napanee; 
• City of Kingston; 
• Township of Leeds and the Thousand Islands; 
• Loyalist Township; 
• Township of Rideau Lakes; and 
• Township of South Frontenac. 

 
“Vice-Chair” means the Vice-Chairperson of the Board. 
 
“Weighted Majority” means the votes of 51 per cent of those represented after the 
votes are weighted by the percentage that applies under Ontario Regulation 139/96 for 
Municipal Levies. 
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3 Governance 

 Members 

3.1.1 Appointments 
Participating Municipalities within the jurisdiction of the Cataraqui Region 
Conservation Authority shall appoint Members in accordance with Section 14 of 
the Act. The members of the Board are the appointed representatives of the 
Participating Municipalities.  An additional member may be appointed to the 
authority by the Minister as a representative of the agricultural sector. 
 
Appointed Members must reside in a participating municipality within the 
authority’s area of jurisdiction.  Participating municipalities must ensure that at 
least 70 percent of its appointees are selected from among the members of the 
municipal council or apply to the Minister for permission to appoint less than this 
percent.  Additional appointees may include citizens as well as an additional 
member who may be appointed by the Minister as a representative of the 
agricultural sector. 

3.1.2 Term of Member Appointments 
A Member shall be appointed for a term of up to four years at the discretion of 
the appointing participating municipality; such term beginning at the first meeting 
of the Authority following the appointment of the member and ending immediately 
before the first meeting of the Authority following the appointment of the 
member’s replacement.  The Minister will define the term for any Member they 
appoint as a representative of the agricultural sector. 

 
The General Manager shall notify the appropriate municipality in advance of the 
expiration date of any Member’s term, unless notified by the municipality of the 
Member’s reappointment or the appointment of the member’s replacement.  

 
A Member is eligible for reappointment.  

 
A Member can be replaced by a Participating Municipality at the municipality’s 
discretion prior to the end of their term.  

3.1.3 Powers of the Board 
The Board may, by resolution: 

 
a) Approve the creation of committees and/or advisory boards, the members 

thereof and the terms of reference for these committees and/or advisory 
boards; 
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b) Appoint a General Manager;  
c) Terminate the services of the General Manager; 
d) Approve establishing and implementing regulations, policies and 

programs; 
e) Award contracts or agreements where the approval of the Authority is 

required under the Authority’s Procurement Policy; 
f) Approve the annual operating and capital budget of the Authority, and the 

levies to be paid by the Participating Municipalities; 
g) Receive and approve the Financial Statements and Report of the Auditor 

for the preceding year; 
h) Authorize the borrowing of funds on the promissory note of the Authority in 

accordance with subsection 3(5) of the Act; 
i) Approve any proposed acquisition of land or disposition of land, subject to 

the requirements under the Act;, 
j) Hold hearings required for the purpose of reviewing permit applications, 

and advising every applicant of their right to appeal the decision to the 
Minister through the Ontario Land Tribunal; and, 

k) For the purposes of accomplishing its objectives, the Authority has power 
as set out in the Act. 

3.1.4 Member Accountability 
Members have the fiduciary duties and responsibilities of directors of a 
corporation.  

 
Every member and officer in exercising his or her powers and discharging his or 
her duties to the Authority shall act honestly and in good faith with a view to the 
best interests of the Authority and exercise the care, diligence, and skill that a 
reasonably prudent person would exercise in comparable circumstances. 
 
All Members have the responsibility to be guided by and adhere to the Member 
Code of Conduct (Schedule ‘A’) and Member Conflict of Interest Policy (Schedule 
‘B’), as adopted by the Authority. Additionally, the agricultural representative, if 
appointed by the Minister, will be required to follow the provincial ethical 
framework set out for government public appointees in the Management Board of 
Cabinet’s Agencies and Appointments Directive. 

 
Members are responsible for: 

 
a) Attending all meetings of the Authority; 
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b) Understanding the purpose, function and responsibilities of the Authority; 
c) Being familiar with the Authority’s statutory and other legal obligations; 
d) Setting strategic direction for the Authority. 

3.1.5 Applicable Legislation 
In addition to the Act, the Members are subject to other legislation including, but 
not limited to: 

 
• Municipal Conflict of Interest Act  

• Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act 

• Not-for-Profit Corporations Act 
 
If any part of this by-law conflicts with any provision of the Municipal Conflict of 
Interest Act or the Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy 
Act or a provision of a regulation made under one of those acts, the provision of 
that act or regulation prevails. The same applies to conflicts between this by-law 
and the Not-for-Profit Corporations Act except where dictated by the 
Conservation Authorities Act in which case the Act prevails. 

3.1.6 Relationship Between Members and Employees 
The Board relies on the General Manager to manage the operations of the 
organization, including all Employees of the Authority. The General Manager is 
accountable to the Board, working cooperatively to achieve the goals established 
by the Board. The Board may authorize the General Manager to delegate 
authorities to other Employees, as identified in Schedule ‘F’ (Signing Authorities). 

 
The Board will ensure that a process exists for regular performance evaluations 
of the General Manager. 

 Officers 
The responsibilities of the Officers of the Board are outlined in Schedules ‘C’ 
(Chair and Vice-Chair), and ‘D’ (General Manager).  

 Maximum Term for Chair 
Both the Chair and Vice Chair shall hold office for a term of one year, and shall 
serve for no more than two consecutive terms.  Notwithstanding these terms, the 
Minister may grant permission (upon application by an Authority or a participating 
municipality) for a Chair or Vice Chair to serve for a term of more than one year or 
to hold office for more than two consecutive terms. 
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 Absence of Chair and Vice-Chair 
In the event of the absence of the Chair and Vice-Chair from any meeting, the 
members shall appoint an Acting Chair who, for the purposes of that meeting has 
all the powers and shall perform all the duties of the Chair. 

 Election of Chair and Vice-Chair 
The election of the Chair and Vice-Chair shall be held at the Annual General 
Meeting in accordance with the Board’s Election Procedures (Schedule ‘E’). 
Successors to the positions of Chair and Vice Chair shall be a Member from a 
different participating municipality from the incumbent.  Upon application by an 
Authority or a participating municipality, the Minister may grant permission for a 
member who was appointed to the Authority by the same participating 
municipality that appointed the outgoing Chair or Vice Chair to serve as Chair or 
Vice Chair. 

 Appointment of Solicitor 
The Board shall by resolution from time to time appoint a qualified firm to act as 
the Authority’s solicitor, in accordance with Cataraqui Conservation’s CRCA’s 
pProcurement Ppolicy.  

 Appointment of Financial Institution 
The Board shall by resolution from time to time appoint a financial institution to 
act as the Authority’s banker, in accordance with CRCA’s Cataraqui 
Conservation’s Pprocurement Ppolicy. 

 Appointment of Auditor 
The Board shall by resolution from time to time appoint a qualified firm to act as 
the Authority’s financial auditor, in accordance with the Conservation Authorities 
Act and CRCA’s Cataraqui Conservation’s Pprocurement Ppolicy. 

 Financial Statement and Report of the Auditor 
The Board shall receive and approve the Audited Financial Statements and 
Report of the Auditor for the previous year in a timely manner in accordance with 
the Conservation Authorities Act. 
 

 Borrowing Resolution 
The Authority shall establish a borrowing resolution and such resolution shall be 
in force until it is superseded by another borrowing resolution. 
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 Signing Officers 
All deeds, transfers, assignments, contracts, and obligations entered into by the 
Authority shall be signed by the signing officers of the Authority, as indicated in 
Schedule ‘F’ (Signing Authorities). 
 
Any signing authority that was authorized by any previous Administration 
Regulation or By-Law, or via a previous resolution of the Board, is superseded by 
this by-law. 
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 Advisory Boards and Other Committees 
The Board shall establish such advisory boards as required by regulation and 
may establish such other advisory boards or committees as it considers 
appropriate to study and report on specific matters.  

 
The Board shall approve the terms of reference for all such advisory boards and 
committees. Terms of reference for the current advisory boards and committees 
are outlined in Schedules ‘G-1’ and ‘G-2’ to this by-law. 
 
Resolutions and policies governing the conduct of the Board’s business shall be 
observed in all advisory board and committee meetings. 
 
Each advisory board or committee shall report to the Board, presenting any 
recommendations made by the advisory board or committee. 

 Remuneration of Members 
There shall be an honorarium for the Chair as compensation for their additional 
responsibilities.  
 
Members may be reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred to attend Authority 
meetings and functions on behalf of the Authority at the current CRCA Cataraqui 
Conservation approved rate.  
 
Remuneration of the Member appointed by the Minister as a representative of the 
agricultural sector is at the expense and discretion of the Province. 
 
 

 Records Retention 
The Authority shall keep full and accurate records regarding its meetings, 
finances, Employees and operations in accordance with applicable legislation 
and its Records Retention Policy (Schedule ‘H’), and shall make records 
available to the public, subject to the requirements of the Municipal Freedom of 
Information and Protection of Privacy Act (MFIPPA) and further to Ontario 
Regulation 400/22 Information Requirements. 

 By-Law Review 
The Board may from time to time amend this By-Law to remain current with the 
law and best practices. 

 Enforcement of By-Laws and Policies 
The Members shall respect and adhere to all applicable by-laws and policies. 
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Should a Member breach a by-law or policy, they shall advise the Chair in writing, 
with a copy to the General Manager, as soon as possible after the breach. 

  
Should a Member allege that another Member has breached a by-law or policy, 
the said breach shall be communicated to the Chair in writing, with a copy to the 
General Manager. In the absence of the Chair, or if a Member alleges that the 
Chair has breached the Code of Conduct, the said breach shall be 
communicated to the Vice-Chair in writing, with a copy to the General Manager.  
 
Should a member of the public, or a municipality, or the appointing Minister 
allege that a Member has breached a by-law or policy, the party making the 
allegation will be directed to follow the notification procedure outlined above. 
 
Any breach, or alleged breach, of a by-law or policy shall be referred by the 
General Manager to CRCA’s Cataraqui Conservation’s Integrity Commissioner. 
CRCA Cataraqui Conservation and its Integrity Commissioner shall undertake 
related investigations in a manner that is consistent with Section 223 of the 
Municipal Act. The Integrity Commissioner shall report their findings to the Board, 
in writing, including the results of their investigation (if warranted) and 
recommended sanctions (if any). 

 Indemnification of Members, Officers and Employees 
The Authority undertakes and agrees to indemnify and save harmless its 
Members, Officers, and Employees and their heirs and legal representatives, 
respectively, from and against all costs, charges and expenses, including all 
amounts paid to settle an action or satisfy any judgement, reasonably incurred by 
any such Member, Officer or Employee in respect of any civil, criminal or 
administrative action or proceeding to which any such Member, Officer or 
Employee is made a party by reason of being a Member, Officer or Employee of 
the Authority (except in respect of an action by or on behalf of the Authority to 
procure a judgment in its favour) if: 
 

a) such Member, Officer or Employee acted honestly, in good faith with a 
view to the best interests of the Authority and within the scope of such 
Member's, Officer's or Employee's duties and responsibilities; and, 

b) in the case of a criminal or administrative action or proceeding that is 
enforced by a monetary penalty that such Member, Officer or Employee 
had reasonable grounds for believing that the conduct was lawful. 

 
The decision of the Authority to indemnify shall be made in the sole discretion of 
the Authority and shall not be reviewable or subject to appeal. 
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 Indemnification of Integrity Commissioner 
The Authority undertakes and agrees to indemnify and save harmless its Integrity 
Commissioner and their heirs and legal representatives, respectively, from and 
against all costs, charges and expenses, including all amounts paid to settle an 
action or satisfy any judgement, reasonably incurred by the Integrity 
Commissioner in respect of any civil, criminal or administrative action or 
proceeding to which any such Integrity Commissioner is made a party by reason 
of being an Integrity Commissioner for the Authority (except in respect of an 
action by or on behalf of the Authority to procure a judgment in its favour) if: 
 

a) the Integrity Commissioner acted honestly, in good faith with a view to the 
best interests of the Authority and within the scope of their contracted 
duties and responsibilities; and, 

b) in the case of a criminal or administrative action or proceeding that is 
enforced by a monetary penalty that the Integrity Commissioner had 
reasonable grounds for believing that the conduct was lawful. 

 
The decision of the Authority to indemnify shall be made in the sole discretion of 
the Authority and shall not be reviewable or subject to appeal. 
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4 Meeting Procedures 
The meeting procedures below governing the procedure of the Board shall be observed 
in advisory board and committee meetings, as far as they are applicable. 

 Rules of Procedure 
In all matters of procedure not specifically dealt with under the Act and this By-
Law, the current edition of Robert’s Rules of Order shall be binding. 

 
The Board may choose to conduct its business as a committee of the whole. 

 Electronic Participation 

4.2.1 Electronic Participation During an Emergency 
Under Section 4 or 7.0.1 of the Emergency Management and Civil Protection Act, 
during any period where an emergency has been declared to exist within the Authority’s 
jurisdiction, that may prevent Members from meeting in person, the following applies: 
 

a) A Member may participate in virtual meetings open to the public to the intent and 
in the manner set out in this By-Law and shall have the ability to: 

• Register a vote; 
• Be counted towards determining quorum; and 
• Participate in meeting closed to the public 

 
b) Any date or timeline requirement established under any section of this By-Law 

shall be postponed until such time as the General Membership can reasonably 
address the issue 
 

c) Any hearing or appeal dealt with in this By-Law may be conducted electronically 
with provisions for applicants and their agents to participate if the Authority decides 
to hold such hearing or appeal 
 

d) The Authority shall to the best of its ability implement best practices to make 
meetings of the Authority open to the public and provide alternative means for 
public participation electronically in accordance with Subsection 15(3) of the 
Conservation Authorities Act 

 
All procedures and responsibilities for Member electronic participation in meetings 
during an emergency declaration are outlined in Emergency Meeting Procedures 
(Schedule ‘I’), as adopted by the Authority. 
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4.2.2 Electronic Participation During Non-Emergency 
a) Any meeting of the Board may be undertaken electronically outside of a declared 

state of emergency and must follow procedures outlined in this By-Law. 
 

b) A Member may participate in virtual meetings open to the public to the intent and 
in the manner set out in this By-Law and shall have the ability to: 

• Register a vote; 
• Be counted towards determining quorum; and 
• Participate in meeting closed to the public 

 
c) For electronic hearings, Cataraqui Conservation Hearing Procedures must be 

followed in compliance with this By-Law. 

 Notice of Meeting 
The Board shall approve a schedule for regular meetings in advance. The 
General Manager shall send Notice of regular meetings to all Members at least 
seven calendar days in advance of a meeting. Notice of all regular or special 
meetings of the Board shall be made available to the public as soon as possible 
after its delivery to the Board. 

 
Notice of any meeting shall indicate the date, time and place of that meeting and 
the agenda for the meeting.  

 
All material and correspondence to be dealt with by the Board at a meeting will 
be submitted to the General Manager at least ten calendar days in advance of 
the meeting where it is to be dealt with, if it is to be included in the published 
agenda, or at least two days if it is to be introduced at the meeting. 

 
The Chair may, at their pleasure, call a special meeting of the Board as 
necessary with at least five calendar days notice in writing or electronic mail. That 
notice shall state the business of the special meeting and only that business shall 
be considered at that special meeting. Any member, with 50% support of the 
other members, may also request the Chair to call a meeting of the Board and 
the Chair will not refuse. 

 
The Chair or the General Manager, may, by notice in writing or electronic mail 
delivered to the members so as to be received by them at least 24 hours before 
the hour appointed for the meeting, postpone or cancel any meeting of an 
Advisory Board or other committee until the next scheduled date for the specific 
Advisory Board or committee affected. 
 
The Chair or General Manager may, if it appears that a storm or like occurrence 
will prevent the members from attending a meeting, postpone that meeting by 
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advising as many members as can be reached, or, if warranted, hold the meeting 
electronically. Postponement shall not be for any longer than the next regularly 
scheduled meeting date. 

 Meetings Open to Public 
All meetings shall be open to the public, except as specified below. 
 
A meeting or part of a meeting may be closed to the public if the subject matter 
being considered is identified in the closed meeting section of the agenda and 
the subject matter meets the criteria for a closed meeting as defined in this By-
Law. 

 Agenda for Meetings 
The General Manager, in consultation with the Chair, shall prepare an agenda for 
all regular meetings of the Board that shall include, but not necessarily be limited 
to, the following headings:  

 
1. Roll Call 
2. Adoption of Agenda 
3. Declaration of Conflict of Interest  
4. Delegation / Presentation 
5. Approval of Previous Minutes 
6. Business Arising 
7. Items For Consideration 
8. Minutes 
9. Committee Reports 
10. Announcements or Inquiries / Information 
11. Motions / Notice of Motion 
12. In Camera Session 
13. Adjournment 

 
The agenda for special meetings of the Board shall be prepared as directed by 
the Chair. 

 
Agendas for meetings shall be forwarded to all Members at least seven calendar 
days in advance of the meeting. Such agendas shall be made available to the 
public on the Authority’s website at the same time, unless the meeting is closed 
to the public in accordance with this By-Law. Such agendas shall also be 
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available in alternative formats, in accordance with the Accessibility for Ontarians 
with Disabilities Act, if requested by interested parties. 

 Quorum 
At any meeting of the Board, a quorum consists of one-half of the Members.  At 
any advisory board or committee meeting, a quorum consists of one-half of the 
Members of the advisory board or committee. The Member appointed by the 
Minister to represent agricultural interests is not part of quorum. 

 
If there is no quorum within one half hour after the time appointed for the 
meeting, the Chair for the meeting shall declare the meeting adjourned due to a 
lack of a quorum, or shall recess until quorum arrives, and the recording 
secretary shall record the names of the Members present and absent.  

 
If during a meeting a quorum is lost, then the Chair shall declare that the meeting 
shall stand recessed or adjourned, until the date of the next regular meeting or 
other meeting called in accordance with the provisions of this By-Law. 

 
Where the number of Members who are disabled from participating in a meeting 
due to the declaration of a conflict of interest is such that at that meeting the 
remaining Members are not of sufficient number to constitute a quorum, the 
remaining number of Members shall be deemed to constitute a quorum, provided 
such number is not less than two. 

 Members’ Attendance 
The General Manager shall provide a listing of Members’ attendance at 
scheduled meetings of the Authority to the Participating Municipalities at least 
annually. 

 
A Member who has been absent for three (3) consecutive Board meetings and 
who has not provided notice of their absence to the Chair or General Manager 
shall be deemed to have resigned.  
Upon a vacancy due to the death, incapacity or resignation of a Member, the 
municipality that was represented by that Member may appoint a replacement.  

 
If a Member is unable to attend any meeting and wishes to bring any additional 
information or opinion pertaining to an agenda item to the Board, the Member 
shall address in writing or electronic mail to the Chair or General Manager such 
correspondence prior to the start of the meeting. The correspondence shall be 
read aloud by the Chair. 
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 Delegations 
Any person or organization who wishes to address the Board may make a 
request in writing or electronic mail to the General Manager. The request should 
include a brief statement of the issue or matter involved and indicate the name of 
the proposed speaker(s) along with any presentation material the speaker wishes 
to rely on. All materials will be reviewed by the General Manager and Chair for 
completeness, relevance, and appropriateness. If such request is received 14 
days in advance of a scheduled meeting, the General Manager may list the 
delegation on the published agenda. The General Manager shall advise the 
individual or organization whether they are listed on the meeting agenda prior to 
circulation of the agendano longer than six (6) days before the scheduled 
meeting. 

 
Any person or organization requesting an opportunity to address the Board, but 
not having made a written request to do so in the timelines specified above, may 
appear before the meeting if approved by a majority of Members present, or may 
be listed on the published agenda for the following meeting.  

 
Except by leave of the Chair, delegations shall be limited to one (1) speaker for 
not more than 10 minutes. 

 
Speakers will be requested not to repeat what has been said by previous 
speakers at the meeting. A returning delegation will only be allowed to speak 
again if new, relevant information has become available since their previous 
presentation. The Chair may choose to end a returning delegation’s presentation 
if, in the opinion of the Chair, the new information being presented is not relevant 
to a decision facing the Board.   

 Annual General Meeting 
One meeting of the Board prior to March 31st each year shall be designated as 
the Annual General Meeting. In addition to the Board’s routine business, the 
following items shall be included on the agenda: 

 
a) Election of Officers; and 
b) Appointment of Members to advisory boards and committees. 

 Meetings with Closed “In Camera” Sessions 
Every meeting of the Board, advisory boards and committees shall be open to 
the public, subject to the exceptions set out below. 

 
Meetings may be closed to the public if the subject matter being considered 
relates to: 

89



 
Cataraqui Conservation  Page 21 of 25 
Administration By-Law  Revision 4 
  
 

 
a) The security of the property of the Authority; 
b) Personal matters about an identifiable individual, including Employees of 

the Authority; 
c) A proposed or pending acquisition or disposition of land by the Authority; 
d) Labour relations or Employee negotiations; 
e) Litigation or potential litigation, including matters before administrative 

tribunals (e.g. Ontario Land Tribunal), affecting the Authority; 
f) Advice that is subject to solicitor-client privilege; 
g) A matter in respect of which the Board, advisory board or committee may 

hold a closed meeting under another act; 
h) information explicitly supplied in confidence to the Authority by Canada, a 

province or territory or a Crown agency of any of them; 
i) a trade secret or scientific, technical, commercial, financial or labour 

relations information, supplied in confidence to the Authority, which, if 
disclosed, could reasonably be expected to prejudice significantly the 
competitive position or interfere significantly with the contractual or other 
negotiations of a person, group of persons, or organization; 

j) a trade secret or scientific, technical, commercial or financial information 
that belongs to the Authority and has monetary value or potential 
monetary value; or 

k) a position, plan, procedure, criteria or instruction to be applied to any 
negotiations carried on or to be carried on by or on behalf of the Authority. 

 
The Board shall close a meeting if the subject matter relates to the consideration 
of a request under MFIPPA. The General Manager is the head of an institution 
for the purposes of MFIPPA. 
 
Before holding a meeting or part of a meeting that is to be closed to the public, 
the Members shall state by resolution during the open session of the meeting 
that there will be a meeting closed to the public and the general nature of the 
matter to be considered at the closed meeting. Once matters have been dealt 
with in a closed meeting, the Board shall reconvene in an open session.  

 
The Board shall not vote during a meeting that is closed to the public, unless: 

 
a) the meeting meets the criteria outlined in this By-Law to be closed to the 

public; and 
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b) the vote is for a procedural matter or for giving directions or instructions to 
Officers, Employees or agents of Authority. 

 
Any materials presented to the Board during a closed meeting shall be returned 
to the General Manager prior to departing from the meeting and shall be treated 
in accordance with the Authority’s procedures for handling confidential material. 
A meeting may also be closed to the public if: 

 
a) the meeting is held for the purpose of educating or training the Members, 

and 
b) at the meeting, no Member discusses or otherwise deals with any matter 

in a way that materially advances the business or decision-making of the 
Authority, Board, advisory board or committee. 

 Voting 
Each Member including the Chair is entitled to one vote. 
 
Where a member has been appointed by the Minister as a representative of the 
agricultural sector, the member shall have limitations on voting as outlined in the 
Conservation Authorities Act. 

 
A majority vote of the Members present at any meeting is required upon all 
matters coming before the meeting.  

 
If any Member who is qualified to vote abstains from voting, they shall be 
deemed to have voted neither in favour nor opposed to the question, which will 
not alter the number of votes required for a majority.  

 
On a tie vote, the motion is lost. 

 
Interrelated motions shall be voted on in the order specified in Robert’s Rules of 
Order. 

 
Unless a Member requests a recorded vote, a vote shall be by a show of hands 
or such other means as the Chair may call. No question shall be voted upon 
more than once at any meeting, unless a recorded vote is requested. 

 
If a member present at a meeting at the time of the vote requests immediately 
before or after the taking of the vote that the vote be recorded, each member 
present taken, by alphabetical surname with the Chair voting last, except a 
member who is disqualified from voting by any Act, shall announce the member’s 
vote openly answering “yes” or “no” to the question, and the recording secretary 
shall record each vote. 
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At the meeting of the Board at which the Non-Matching Levy is to be approved, 
the recording secretary shall conduct the vote to approve of Non-Matching Levy 
by a Weighted Majority of the Members present and eligible to vote, in 
accordance with Ontario Regulation 139/96.  

 
Where a question under consideration contains more than one item, upon the 
request of any Member, a vote upon each item shall be taken separately.  

 
Except as provided in Schedule ‘E’ to this By-Law (Election of Officers), no vote 
shall be taken by ballot or by any other method of secret voting, and every vote 
so taken is of no effect. 
 
Where a Member has been appointed by the Minister as a representative of the 
agricultural sector, the member shall not vote on a resolution to (a) enlarge the 
Authority’s jurisdiction, (b) amalgamate the Authority with another Conservation 
Authority, (c) dissolve the Authority, or (d) any related budgetary matter. 

 Notice of Motion 
Written notice of motion may be given to the General Manager by any Member of 
the Board not less than ten calendar days prior to the date and time of the 
meeting and shall be forthwith placed on the agenda of the next meeting. The 
General Manager shall include such notice of motion in full in the agenda for the 
meeting concerned. 

 
Recommendations included in reports of advisory boards or committees or staff 
reports that have been included in an agenda for a meeting of the Board shall 
constitute notice of motion for that meeting. 

 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, any motion or other business may be introduced 
for consideration provided that it is made clear that to delay such motion or other 
business for the consideration of an appropriate advisory board or committee 
would not be in the best interest of the Authority. The introduction of the motion 
or other business shall be upon an affirmative vote of a majority of the Members 
present. 

 Motion to Reconsider 
If a motion is made to reconsider a previous motion, a two-thirds majority vote 
shall be required in order for reconsideration to take place. If a motion to 
reconsider is passed, the original motion shall then be placed on the agenda at a 
future meeting to be debated and voted upon, and the result of that vote, based 
on a simple majority, shall supersede the original vote. 
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 Duties of the Meeting Chair 
It shall be the duty of the meeting Chair, to: 

 
a) Preserve order and decide all questions of order, subject to appeal; and 

without argument or comment, state the rule applicable to any point of 
order if called upon to do so;  

b) Ensure that the public in attendance does not in any way interfere or 
disrupt the proceedings of the Members;  

c) Receive and submit to a vote all motions presented by the Members, 
which do not contravene the rules of order or regulations of the Authority;  

d) Announce the results of the vote on any motions so presented; and 
e) Adjourn the meeting when business is concluded. 

 Polls 
Polls of members may be undertaken for items of business considered to be 
urgent or an emergency and where it is considered impractical to convene a 
special meeting. Such polls may be conducted via conferencing methods (e.g. 
teleconference) or individual notices (e.g. electronic survey methods). 
 

 Minutes of Meetings 
The General Manager shall undertake to have a recording secretary in 
attendance at meetings of the Board and each advisory board or committee. The 
recording secretary shall make a record in the form of minutes of the meeting 
proceedings and in particular shall record all motions considered at the meeting.  
 
If a recording secretary is not present in a closed session, the General Manager 
shall take notes of any direction provided, for endorsement by the Chair.  
Minutes of all meetings shall include the date, time and place of the meeting and 
a list of those present and shall state all motions presented together with the 
mover and seconder and voting results.  
 
The draft minutes of the previous meeting shall be posted on the Authority’s 
website within 30 days of the meeting and distributed to each member of the 
Board as part of the next meeting agenda. 
 
After the minutes have been approved by resolution, original copies shall be 
signed by the General Manager and copies of all non-confidential minutes shall 
be posted on the Authority’s website. Such minutes shall also be available for 
review by any member of the public at the Authority’s administration centre or 
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provided in alternative formats, in accordance with the Accessibility for Ontarians 
with Disabilities Act, if requested by interested parties.  
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1 General 
 

The Members of the Board of the Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority are 
committed to a culture of ethical conduct, respect and integrity. 

 
All Members are expected to conduct themselves in a manner that reflects 
positively on the Authority. 

 
All Members shall serve in a conscientious and diligent manner. No Member shall 
use the influence of their office for any purpose other than for the exercise of 
his/her official duties.  

 
It is expected that Members shall adhere to this code of conduct, and at a 
minimum: 

 
a) uphold the mandate, vision and mission of the Authority; 
b) consider the Authority’s jurisdiction in its entirety, including their appointing 

municipality; 
c) respect confidentiality; 
d) approach all Authority issues with an open mind, with consideration for the 

organization as a whole;  
e) respect the democratic process and respect decisions of the Board; 
f) declare any direct or indirect pecuniary interest or conflict of interest when 

one exists or may exist; and 
g) conduct oneself in a manner which reflects respect and professional 

courtesy and does not use offensive language in or against the Authority 
or against any Member, Employee or member of the public. 

 
Additionally, the agricultural representative appointed by the Minister will be 
required to follow the provincial ethical framework set out for government public 
appointees in the Management Board of Cabinet’s Agencies and Appointments 
Directive. 

 
 
 
2 Gifts and Benefits 
 

Members shall not accept fees, gifts, hospitality or personal benefits that are 
connected directly or indirectly with the performance of duties, except 
compensation authorized by law. 
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3 Confidentiality 
 

The members shall be governed at all times by the provisions of the Municipal 
Freedom and Information and Protection of Privacy Act (MFIPPA). 
 
All information, documentation or deliberations received, reviewed, or taken in a 
closed meeting are confidential.  
 
Members shall not disclose or release by any means to any member of the 
public, either in verbal or written form, any confidential information acquired by 
virtue of their office, except when required by law to do so.  
 
Members shall not permit any persons, other than those who are entitled thereto, 
to have access to information which is confidential.  
 
In the instance where a member vacates their position on the Board they will 
continue to be bound by MFIPPA requirements and shall continue to treat as 
confidential all confidential information received during the course of their duties. 

 
 
 
 
4 Use of Authority Property 
 

No Member shall use for personal purposes any Authority property, equipment, 
supplies, or services other than for purposes connected with the discharge of 
their duties as a Member of the Board. 

 
 
 
 
5 Work of a Political Nature 
 

No Member shall use Authority facilities, services or property for his/her election 
or re-election campaign to any position or office within the Authority or otherwise. 
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6 Conduct at Meetings 
 

Members shall conduct themselves with decorum during Authority meetings and 
when representing the Authority at external meetings and events. Respect for 
delegations, for fellow Members and for staff requires that all Members show 
courtesy and not distract from the business of the Authority during presentations 
and when others have the floor. 

 
 
 
 
7 Influence on Staff 
 

Members shall be respectful of the fact that staff work for the Authority as a 
whole and are charged with making recommendations that reflect their 
professional expertise and corporate perspective.  No individual Member shall 
direct a member of staff. 

 
 
 
 
8 Business Relations 
 

No Member shall borrow money from any person who regularly does business 
with the Authority unless such person is an institution or company whose shares 
are publicly traded and who is regularly in the business of lending money. 

 
 
 
 
9 Encouragement of Respect for the Authority and its Regulations 
 

Members shall represent the Authority in a respectful way and encourage public 
respect for the Authority and its Regulations. 
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10 Harassment 
 

It is the policy of the Authority that all persons be treated fairly in the workplace in 
an environment free of discrimination and of personal and sexual harassment. 
Harassment of another Member, staff or any member of the public is misconduct. 
Members shall follow the Authority’s Workplace Violence and Harassment Policy. 

 
 
 
 
11 Approvals 
 

The following resolution was passed at the Board meeting of August 29, 
2018March 22, 2023: 

 
 

Resolution 079-18 
 

Moved by:  Bert Herfst 
Seconded by: Max Kaiser 

 
 

THAT Report IR-086-18, Administration By-law, BE RECEIVED;  
 

THAT the Part ‘2’ Administration Procedure of the Cataraqui Region 
Conservation Authority, BE REPEALED; and, 

 
THAT Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority By-law NO. 1 
(Administration By-law) and Schedules ‘A’, ‘B’, ‘G-1’ and ‘G-2’, BE 
ADOPTED, AS AMENDED. 

 
CARRIED 

 

101



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Member Conflict of Interest 
Policy 

 

 

 

Schedule ‘B’ 
To 

By-Law No. 1 
Administration By-Law 

 

Document No. By-law No. 1 Schedule ‘B’ Rev. 01 

Prepared by: 
Rob McRae, MCIP, RPP Date: 2018/08/29202

3/03/22 
Manager, Corporate Services  (yyyy/mm/dd) 

102



 

By-law No. 1 (Administration By-law) 
Schedule ‘B’ – Member Conflict of Interest Policy 2018/09/29 

Schedule Revision 01 
Page i 

Document Revisions 

Schedule 
Revision 

Date 
(yyyy/mm/dd) 

Description of Changes Report Adopted by 
Full Authority 
Resolution # 

0 2018/08/29 Original Issue IR-086-18 079-18 
1 2023/03/22 Amendment to incorporate 

legislative updates for 
compliance with the Not-For-
Profit Corporations Act and 
Conservation Authorities 
Acts 

IR-XXX-23 XX 

 

103



 

By-law No. 1 (Administration By-law) 
Schedule ‘B’ – Member Conflict of Interest Policy 2018/09/29 

Schedule Revision 01 
Page ii 

 

Table of Contents 

1 Definition and Interpretation ................................................................................................................. 1 

2 Municipal Conflict of Interest Act ........................................................................................................ 2 

3 Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest ......................................................................................................... 2 

4 Chair’s Conflict of Interest ..................................................................................................................... 3 

5 Closed Meetings ....................................................................................................................................... 3 

6 Member Absent ........................................................................................................................................ 3 

7 Disclosure Recorded In Minutes .......................................................................................................... 3 

8 Registry Maintained for Public Inspection ........................................................................................ 4 

9 Approvals ................................................................................................................................................... 4 

 
 

104



 

By-law No. 1 (Administration By-law) 
Schedule ‘B’ – Member Conflict of Interest Policy 2018/09/29 

Schedule Revision 01 
Page 1 of 4 

1 Definition aAnd Interpretation 
 

A conflict of interest refers to situations in which personal, occupational or 
financial considerations may affect, or appear to affect, the objectivity, judgement 
or ability of a Member to act in the best interests of the Authority. A conflict of 
interest may be real, potential or perceived. 
 
The Members of the Board of the Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority 
commit to conducting themselves in an ethical, businesslike, and lawful manner, 
consistent with the Member Code of Conduct. Accordingly, Members shall avoid 
or disclose both pecuniary and personal conflicts of interest.  Additionally, the 
agricultural representative appointed by the Minister will be required to follow the 
provincial ethical framework set out for government public appointees in the 
Management Board of Cabinet’s Agencies and Appointments Directive. 
 
 
For purposes of this policy, a pecuniary interest, direct or indirect, of a Family 
Member of the Member shall be deemed to also be the pecuniary interest of the 
Member. A Member shall declare a conflict of interest where they or their Family 
Member has a pecuniary interest in a matter and shall take all of the actions 
prescribed in the Municipal Conflict of Interest Act as if the Act applied to that 
interest.  For purposes of this policy, a Family Member includes the Member’s: 
 

a) Spouse; 
b) Child, including a child born within or outside of marriage and includes an 

adopted child and a person to whom the Member has demonstrated a 
settled intention to treat as a child of his or her family; 

c) Parent;  
d) Sibling, whether by birth, marriage or adoption; 
e) Grandchild, grandparent, aunt, uncle, niece or nephew; 
f) Parent-in-law; and 
g) Any person who lives with the Member on a permanent basis. 

 
In addition to pecuniary interests, Members must perform their duties impartially, 
such that an objective, reasonable observer would conclude that the Member is 
exercising their duties objectively and without undue influence. Each Member 
shall govern their actions using the following as a guide: 

 
a) in making decisions, always place the interests of the Authority first and, in 

particular, place those interests before your personal interests and the 
interests of other Members, staff, friends, business colleagues or Family 
Members; 
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b) interpret the phrase "conflict of interest" broadly and with the objective of 
making decisions impartially and objectively; 

c) if there is doubt about whether or not a conflict exists, seek legal advice; 
d) do not make decisions that create an obligation to any other person who 

will benefit from the decision; 
e) do not make decisions or attempt to influence any other person for the 

purpose of benefitting yourself, other Members, Staff, friends, business 
colleagues or Family Members, or any organization that might indirectly 
benefit such individuals; 

f) do not put yourself in the position where a decision would give preferential 
treatment to other Members, Staff, friends, business colleagues or Family 
Members, or any organization that might indirectly benefit such individuals; 
and 

g) do not promise or hold out the prospect of future advantage through your 
influence in return for a direct or indirect personal interest. 

 
 
 
 
2 Municipal Conflict oOf Interest Act 
 

The Members of the Board are bound by the Municipal Conflict of Interest Act. 
They should review the provisions of the Act on a regular basis.  

 
 
 
 
3 Disclosure oOf Pecuniary Interest 
 

Where a Member, either on their own behalf or while acting for, by, with or 
through another, has any pecuniary interest, direct or indirect, in any material 
contract or material transaction of the Authority, and is present at a meeting of 
the Authority, advisory board or committee at which the matter is the subject of 
consideration, the Member: 

 
a) shall, prior to any consideration of the matter at the meeting, disclose the 

pecuniary interest and the general nature thereof;  
b) shall not take part in the discussion of, or vote on any question in respect 

of the matter; and 
c) shall not attempt in any way to influence the voting on any such question; 

and 
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c)d) shall file a written statement of the Conflict of Interest and its 
general nature with the General Manager.. 

 
4 Chair’s Conflict oOf Interest 
 

Where the Chair of a meeting discloses a conflict of interest with respect to a 
matter under consideration at a meeting, another Member shall be appointed to 
chair that portion of the meeting by resolution. 

 
 
 
 
5 Closed Meetings 
 

Where a meeting is not open to the public, a Member who has declared a conflict 
of interest shall leave the meeting for the part of the meeting during which the 
matter is under consideration. 

 
 
 
 
6 Member Absent 
 

Where the interest of a Member has not been disclosed by reason of their 
absence from the particular meeting, the Member shall disclose their interest and 
otherwise comply at the first meeting of the Authority, advisory board or 
committee, as the case may be, attended by them after the particular meeting. 

 
 
 
 
7 Disclosure Recorded In Minutes 
 

The recording secretary shall record in reasonable detail the particulars of any 
disclosure of conflict of interest made by Members and whether the Member 
withdrew from the discussion of the matter. Such record shall appear in the 
minutes/notes of the meeting. 
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8 Registry Maintained for Public Inspection 
 

The Authority shall maintain a registry in which shall be kept: 
a) A copy of each statement filed under Section 3(d) of this policy; and 
b) A copy of each declaration recorded in the Minutes. 

 
The registry shall be available for public inspection. 

 
 
 
 
89 ApprovalS 
 

The following resolution was passed at the Board meeting of August 29, 
2018March 22, 2023: 

 
 

Resolution 079-18 
 

Moved by:  Bert Herfst 
Seconded by: Max Kaiser 

 
 

THAT Report IR-086-18, Administration By-law, BE RECEIVED;  
 

THAT the Part ‘2’ Administration Procedure of the Cataraqui Region 
Conservation Authority, BE REPEALED; and, 

 
THAT Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority By-law NO. 1 
(Administration By-law) and Schedules ‘A’, ‘B’, ‘G-1’ and ‘G-2’, BE 
ADOPTED, AS AMENDED. 

 
CARRIED 
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General Manager   
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1 Election of Chair and Vice Chair 
 

A Chair and a Vice-Chair shall be elected from among the Members of the 
Conservation Authority appointed by a participating Municipality, at the Annual 
General Meeting, for terms of one year. 

 
 
 
2 Acting Chair 
 

At the appropriate time during the Annual General Meeting, the Board shall 
appoint the General Manager, or another person who is not a voting Member, as 
Acting Chair for the purpose of conducting the election. 

 
 
 
3 Confirmation of approach 
 

The Acting Chair shall canvass the Board members present to confirm a 
preferred approach for the election of a Chair and Vice-Chair. If there is 
unanimous support for an open approach without the use of ballots, then the 
procedures in Section 4 below shall be followed. Otherwise, the procedures in 
Section 5 below shall be followed. 

 
 
 
4 Procedures for Open Election 
 

The elections shall be conducted in the following order: 
 

i. Election of the Chair; and, 
ii. Election of the Vice-Chair. 

 
Each election that is conducted under this Section shall proceed as follows: 

 
a) The Acting Chair shall call three (3) times for nominations for the position. A 

nominated Member must either be present to accept the nomination or have 
advised the General Manager in writing in advance of the election of their 
willingness to accept the nomination; 
 

b) The Acting Chair shall declare that nominations for the position are closed; 
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c) The Members shall acknowledge the nominee(s) and by consensus identify 
one candidate for the position. 
 
 

If the Members do not by consensus identify one preferred candidate for a 
position, then the Acting Chair shall facilitate an election for that position under 
Section 5. 
 
When both elections have been completed, the Acting Chair shall invite the 
Members to confirm the election of the candidates per Section 6. 

 
 
 
5 Procedure for Election by Ballot 
 

The Acting Chair shall call a motion for the appointment of one or more persons, 
who are not Members or Employees of the Conservation Authority, to act as 
scrutineers. 
 
The elections shall be conducted in the following order: 
 

iii. Election of the Chair; and, 
iv. Election of the Vice-Chair. 

 
Each election that is conducted under this Section shall proceed as follows: 
 
a) The Acting Chair shall call for nominations to the position; 
 
b)  Nominations shall be called three (3) times and shall only require a mover; 
 
c) The closing of nominations shall require both a mover and a seconder; 
 
d) Each Member nominated shall be asked to accept the nomination. The 

Member must either be present to accept the nomination or have advised the 
General Manager in writing in advance of the election of their willingness to 
accept the nomination;  

 
e) If there is one nominee, then the individual shall be declared into the position 

by acclamation; 
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f) If there are two or more nominees: 

 
− Each nominee shall be permitted not more than three (3) minutes to speak 

for the office, in the order of the alphabetical listing by surnames; 
 

− Voting shall be by secret ballot and no Members may vote by proxy; 
 
− Ballots shall be distributed to the Members by the scrutineers and the 

Acting Chair shall ask the Members to write the name of one individual 
only on the ballot; 

 
− The scrutineers shall collect the ballots, leave the meeting room to count 

the ballots, return and advise the Acting Chair of the outcome; 
 
− A majority vote shall be required for election; 
 
− If there are more than two nominees, and upon the first vote no nominee 

receives the majority required for election, then the name of the person 
with the least number of votes shall be removed from further consideration 
for the office and new ballots shall be distributed; 

 
− In the case of a vote where no nominee receives the majority required for 

election and where two or more nominees are tied with the least number 
of votes, a special vote shall be taken to decide which one of such tied 
nominees’ names shall be dropped from the list of names to be voted on in 
the next vote; 

 
− Should there be a tie vote between two remaining candidates, then new 

ballots shall be distributed, and a second vote held. Should there still be a 
tie after the second ballot, then a third vote shall be held. Should there be 
a tie after the third vote, the election of the office shall be decided by lot 
drawn by the Acting Chair or designate; 

 
g) All ballots shall be destroyed by the scrutineers once the election has been 

completed. 

When both elections have been completed, the Acting Chair shall invite the 
Members to confirm the election of the candidate(s) per Section 6. 
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6 Confirmation By Resolution 
 

The election of the Chair and Vice-Chair shall be confirmed by resolution of the 
Board. 

 
 
 
7 Approvals 
 

The following resolution was passed at the Board meeting of March 27, 
2019March 22, 2023: 

 
 

Resolution: 029-19 
 
Moved by: Bert Herfst 
Seconded by: Paul McAuley 

 
 

THAT Report IR-024-19, Administration By-Law – Amendments, BE 
RECEIVED; 
 
THAT Revision 0 of Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority By-Law No. 1 
(Administration By-Law), BE REPEALED, and Revision 1 of Cataraqui Region 
Conservation Authority By-Law No. 1 (Administration By-Law), BE 
ADOPTED; and, 
 
THAT Schedules ‘C’, ‘D’, ’E’, and ‘F’ to Cataraqui Region Conservation 
Authority By-Law No. 1 (Administration By-Law), BE ADOPTED. 

 
CARRIED 
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Report # IR-037-23 

 
 
 

Date: March 22, 2023 

To: Full Authority Board 

From: Katrina Furlanetto, M.Env.Sc 
General Manager 

 
 
1.0 Type of Report 

Consent Item ☒ 
Item for Board Consideration ☐ 

 
2.0 Topic 
 

Transition Plan – Quarterly Reporting (April 1, 2023) 
 
 
 
3.0 Recommendations 
 

That Report IR-037-23, Transition Plan – Quarterly Reporting (April 1, 2023) Be 
Received. 

 
 
 
 
4.0 Purpose 
 

Per regulatory requirements, this report is to update the Board on Cataraqui 
Conservation’s Programs and Services Inventory, governance amendments, and 
the submission of the quarterly progress report to the Ministry of Natural 
Resources and Forestry by April 1, 2023, as required by the Conservation 
Authorities Act. 
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5.0 Background 
 

Under Ontario Regulation 687/21: Transition Plans and Agreements for 
Programs and Services Under Section 21.1.2 of the Act and as outlined in 
Cataraqui Conservation’s approved Transition Plan, Conservation Authorities are 
required to provide a Quarterly Progress Report to the Ministry of Natural 
Resources and Forestry (MNRF) on municipal feedback received regarding the 
circulated Programs & Services Inventory as well as identify any changes that 
have been made and municipal agreements signed for Category 2 and 3 
services. All agreements are to be in place by January 1, 2024. 

 
This report outlines Cataraqui Conservation’s progress on implementing the 
proclaimed governance amendments under the Conservation Authorities Act and 
advises that a quarterly report was submitted by April 1, 2023.  

 
 
 
 
6.0 Strategic Plan 
 

This report supports Goal ‘F’ in the Strategic Plan, Cataraqui to 2020. 
 

To operate an efficient and financially sound organization that provides excellent 
service to the community; promotes best environmental practices; and that offers 
a healthy, positive and nurturing workplace environment for staff, members and 
volunteers. 

 
• Maintain a positive image in the community. 

• Make customer service a top priority in all work areas. 

• Maximize the efficient use of time and resources to avoid waste. 

• Demonstrate leadership in environmental design as well as energy and 
materials conservation. 

• Foster the health, safety, morale and career development of our staff. 

• Maintain up-to-date corporate policies. 

• Maintain internal capacity in support services such as accounting, 
communications, document management, geomatics and information 
technology. 

• Manage capital assets in a long-term, sustainable way. 
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7.0 Input from Other Sources 
 

Conservation Authorities are working closely with each other, specifically through 
Conservation Ontario and the eastern Conservation Authorities, to review the 
provincial amendments and develop strategies and tools to assist 
implementation.  
 
Senior Management has met to discuss the Programs and Services Inventory 
 
The General Manager has met with all municipal CAOs regarding Bill 23 – More 
Homes Built Faster Act and reminded partners of the requirement to enter into 
municipal agreements for sustaining Category 2 and 3 services. A deadline of 
July 2023 was proposed and accepted at a staff level for Council endorsement. 

 
 
 
 
8.0 Analysis 
 

Programs and Services Inventory  
 
Cataraqui Conservation’s Program and Services Inventory (Version 2), 
previously circulated in report IR-123-22 – Transition Plan – Quarterly Reporting 
(October 2022) and found on our website requires changes due to the impact of 
Bill 23 and feedback from municipalities on asset management. Staff are working 
on reviewing the funding model for Development Review services and will 
circulate changes to municipalities and the Province once complete. These 
changes have not been included in this quarterly update as analysis is ongoing. 
A final Inventory is due by January 31, 2024. 
 

 
Next Steps 
 

• Staff submit a progress report to MNRF by April 1, 2023, indicating the 
progress of municipal consultation and agreement development 
(Attachment #1)  

• Staff will be finalizing Category 2 and 3 service level agreements for 
circulation to municipalities to engage Councils 

• Programs and Services Inventory (Version 3) to be finalized and brought 
to the Board for approval prior to circulation to municipalities and the 
Province  
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Provincial Deliverables 
 
Within the amendments of the Conservation Authorities Act, Cataraqui 
Conservation is required to complete six (6) deliverable projects by December 
31, 2024. Below is a summary of the deliverables and progress status to date. 
 
1) Conservation Lands Inventory – In Progress 
2) Conservation Area Strategy – Workplan Initiated  
3) Watershed-Based Resource Management Strategy – Scoping Initiated  
4) Ice Management Plans – Not Applicable 
5) Natural Hazard Infrastructure Operational Management Plans – Completed  
6) Natural Hazards Infrastructure Asset Management Plan – In Progress 

 
Many of the above initiatives require Board and public consultation, which will be 
incorporated into the Corporate Strategic Planning efforts ongoing this fiscal. 

 
 
 
 
9.0 Financial Implications 

 
There is no financial impact to the Cataraqui Conservation 2023 Operating 
Budget. Negotiations are underway with municipalities on programs and services 
to be delivered using Municipal Levy in future budget years and will impact the 
2024 Operating Budget. 

 
 
 
 
10.0 Conclusion 

 
Cataraqui Conservation remains committed to administering an accountable and 
transparent governance model and is well on its way to meeting legislative and 
regulatory compliance under the Conservation Authorities Act. 

 
 

 Approved for circulation, 
 

(Original signed by) 

 Katrina Furlanetto, M.Env.Sc 
General Manager 

 
 
Attachments: 
 

1) Letter to MNRF Transition Plan – Quarterly Reporting (April 2023) 
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Cataraqui Conservation 
1641 Perth Road, PO Box 160, Glenburnie ON, K0H 1S0 • info@crca.ca • 613-546-4228 • CataraquiConservation.ca 

 
March 22, 2023         AA-014-23 
 
 
Via E-mail: ca.office@ontario.ca  
 
The Honourable Graydon Smith 
Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry 

Resource Planning and Development Policy Branch 

2th Floor, South Tower 300 Water Street East 
Peterborough, ON   K9J 3C7  
 
 
RE: Transition Plan – Quarterly Reporting (April 1, 2023) 
 
Dear Minister Smith: 
 
On behalf of the Board of Directors and staff of the Cataraqui Region Conservation 
Authority (Cataraqui Conservation), please find enclosed our Quarterly Reporting 
Update per Ontario Regulation 687/21 – Transition Plans and Agreements for Programs 
and Services Under Section 21.1.2 of the Act.  
 
Cataraqui Conservation’s Programs and Services Inventory (Version 2) is currently 
being revised to be compliant with recent legislated changes.  Version 3 of the Inventory 
will be circulated with the next update in 2023.  
 
Thank you for your support of Conservation Authorities in our shared efforts to protect 
people and property towards building resilient communities. 
 
If you have any questions on the documentation enclosed, please reach out. 
 
Respectfully yours, 
 
 
 
Gary Oosterhof     Katrina Furlanetto, M.Env.Sc 
Chair, Cataraqui Conservation   General Manager 
Member, City of Kingston    Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority 
 
Enclosed: Transition Plan Quarterly Reporting Update – April 1, 2023 
  
cc: The Honourable David Piccini, Minister of Environment, Conservation and Parks 
 Cataraqui Conservation Board Members 
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1.0 Municipal Feedback on Programs & Services Inventory (Section 7(3)(a)) 
Municipal consultation on Cataraqui Conservation’s Programs and Services Inventory is 
well underway. Consultation completed as of this report is summarized in Table 1, 
Municipal Feedback Summary (March 2023). Additional consultation is planned with 
each municipality over the coming months to finalize and enter into agreements. 

Table 1 – Municipal Feedback Summary (March 2023) 

Municipality Description Date Feedback 
City of Brockville 
Township of  
Elizabeth-town Kitley 
Township of Front of 
Yonge 
Town of Gananoque 
Town of Greater 
Napanee 
City of Kingston 
Township of Leeds & 
the Thousand Islands 
Loyalist Township 
Township of Rideau 
Lakes 
Township of South 
Frontenac 

Municipal 
Programs and 
Services Virtual 
Workshop 
- 10 

municipalities 
attended 

- 22 participants 

May 2, 
2022 

Municipalities were supportive of 
Cataraqui Conservation’s 
approach to meet provincial 
deliverables, reduce the number 
of agreements required through 
combining services within one 
agreement, and pleased to hear 
services were intended to remain 
at the current delivery standard. 
 

Municipal CAO 
Meetings 

Individual 
meetings with 
each Participating 
Municipality  

June 2022 Discussions pertain to timelines, 
Council involvement, staff 
discussions, finances, and 
municipal agreement templates.  

Town of Gananoque Council Meeting  June 21, 
2022 

Council decision to purse only 
Category 2 services. MOU 
signed August 10, 2022. 

City of Kingston Council Meeting  September 
6, 2022 

Council decision to pursue all 
Category 2 and 3 services 

Front of Yonge 
Township 

Council Meeting October 3, 
2022 

Council decision to pursue all 
Category 2 and 3 services 

Town of Greater 
Napanee 

Council Meeting February 
14, 2023 

Discussion on programs and 
services and agreements 

Township of Leeds and 
the Thousand Islands 

Council Meeting March 6, 
2023 

Discussion on programs and 
services and agreements 

 

2.0 Summary of Programs & Services Inventory Updates (Section 7(3)(b)) 
There is no change to Cataraqui Conservation’s Programs and Services Inventory 
(Version 2) since the last update in October 2022. An update (Version 3) is in draft and 
will be circulated once approved by the Board. 
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3.0 Summary of Municipal Agreement Implementation (Section 7(3)(c)) 
Cataraqui Conservation is working to develop agreements to support continued 
implementation of Category 2 and Category 3 programs and services across the 
watershed. Table 2, Municipal Agreement Implementation Status (March 2023) below 
summarizes the required agreements and status update. 

Table 2 – Municipal Agreement Implementation Status (March 2023) 

Program Service Provincial 
Category 

Municipality Agreement 
Status 

Conservation 
Area and 
Lands 
Management 
 

Municipal Boat 
Ramps 

2 City of Brockville 
Township of Leeds & 
the Thousand Islands 

In discussions with 
municipalities 

Recreation 
Facilities 

3 All eleven (11) 
participating 
municipalities 

In discussions with 
municipalities 

Natural 
Hazards and 
Watershed 
Management 
 

Land Use Plan 
Review 
(Stormwater 
Management) 

2 All eleven (11) 
participating 
municipalities, 
Frontenac County, 
Township of 
Frontenac Islands, 
United Counties of 
Leeds & Grenville 

Agreements no 
longer required 
due to legislative 
changes 

Land Use Plan 
Review 
(Ecological 
Advisement & 
Natural Heritage) 

2 

Policy Plan Input 
(Natural 
Heritage) 

2 

Water/Erosion 
Control 
Structures 

2 City of Brockville 
City of Kingston 

Agreements 
circulated and 
under review 

Watershed 
Monitoring & 
Reporting 

3 All eleven (11) 
participating 
municipalities 

Agreement in 
Development 

Education & 
Public 
Programming 
 

Curriculum-
based School 
Programs 

3 All eleven (11) 
participating 
municipalities 

Agreement in 
Development 

Forest School 3 
Forest Therapy 3 
Winter 
Recreation 

3 

Maple Madness 3 
Public 
Programming  

3 

Nature Explorers 
Camp 

3 
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4.0 Implementation Challenges (Section 7(3)(d)) 
Municipal implementation of Bill 23 – More Homes Built Faster Act (2022), new Council 
orientation, and budget approvals are causing delays in consultation with municipalities 
regarding pursuing agreements based on municipal staff capacity. Initial feedback has 
indicated this may cause further delays in signing agreements by the required legislated 
deadlines. 

 
5.0 Provincial Deliverables Status   
Six provincial deliverables are required to be implemented by December 31, 2024. 
Table 3, Provincial Deliverables Status Update (March 2023) outlines the requirements 
and status update for these deliverables. 

Table 3 – Provincial Deliverables Status Update (March 2023) 

Provincial Deliverable Status Date of 
Completion 

Watershed-Based Resource 
Management Strategy In progress – scoping phase 2024 

Conservation Area Strategy In progress – scoping phase 2024 
Conservation Land Inventory In progress – database development Winter 2023 
Ice Management Plans Not applicable – municipal responsibility N/A 
Natural Hazard Infrastructure 
Operational Management 
Plans 

Complete Fall 2022 

Natural Hazard Infrastructure 
Asset Management Plans 

In progress – capital program review 
ongoing Fall 2023 
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Report # IR-038-23 

 
 
 

Date: March 22, 2023 

To: Full Authority Board 

From: Rick Knapton  
Coordinator, Forestry 

 
 
1.0 Type of Report 

Consent Item ☐ 
Item for Board Consideration ☒ 

 
2.0 Topic 

 
Afforestation Program – Seedling Procurement and Planting Contractor 

 
 
 
3.0 Recommendations 

 
That Report IR-038-23, Afforestation Program - Seedling Procurement and 
Contractor, Be Received; and, 
 
That the procurement of seedling stock from Somerville Nurseries Inc. Be 
Approved; and, 
 
That staff Be Directed to proceed with the securement of a planting contractor 
for the 2023 planting program, with contract extension options for 2024 and 
2025. 

 
 
 
4.0 Purpose 

 
Per the Cataraqui Conservation Procurement Policy (2020), approval by the 
Board is required when a project procurement value exceeds $75,000 (before 
taxes).  The purpose of this report is to seek approval to procure seedling stock 
for the 2023 tree planting program from approved nurseries (Somerville 
Nurseries Inc., Ferguson Tree Nursery, and Pineneedle Farms Inc.) and to 
secure services of a tree planting and tending contractor to fulfill planting 
commitments during the planting season.  
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5.0 Background 
 

Cataraqui Conservation has been an active partner with Forests Ontario through 
the 50 Million Tree Program (50 MTP) as well as with Tree Canada through the 
National Greening Program (NGP).  Cataraqui Conservation’s program provides 
afforestation assistance (subsidies and planting services) to both public and 
private agencies/individuals across Cataraqui Conservation’s watershed.   
 
The Coordinator, Forestry position is the point of contact for Cataraqui 
Conservation’s afforestation program.  Cataraqui Conservation has been a very 
active delivery agent for the programs to date, and while being only one (1) of the 
forty-eight (48) delivery agents across the province (50 MTP), have planted well 
over 2 million trees since 2007 and are in the top ten partners in the province.  
Cataraqui Conservation has also entered into a memorandum of understanding 
with Tree Canada to potentially plant a hundred to two hundred thousand trees 
annually over the next 3 years.   
 
The funding allocation for Spring 2023, through the Forests Ontario’s 50 MTP 
and Tree Canada (NGP) is for the planting of approximately 225,000 trees.  
 
As part of Cataraqui Conservation’s agreement with Forests Ontario to deliver 
the program, seedlings must be purchased from any of three (3) pre-approved 
nursery stock suppliers, which are: 
 

• Ferguson Tree Nursery – Kemptville, ON 
• Somerville Nurseries Inc. – Everett, ON 
• Pineneedle Farms Inc. – Pontypool, ON 

 
Cataraqui Conservation staff recommend purchasing seedlings to support the 
2023 planting season, with the majority ordered through Somerville Nurseries. 
The seedling purchase amount exceeds the $75,000.00 (before taxes) limit, as 
per the Cataraqui Conservation Procurement Policy, Board approval is required 
for the expenditure over this amount. Cataraqui Conservation over the last 3 
years has purchased between $162,000 and $230,500 of forestry product 
annually (quantity varies depending upon program participation).   
 
Cataraqui Conservation also contracts the planting and tending of the sites to a 
qualified planting contractor.  Per the Procurement Policy Cataraqui 
Conservation seeks tenders for the services required to tend the sites and plant 
the seedlings.  Through a public tendering process, Cataraqui Conservation staff 
will need to secure services for the 2023 season.  As the contract will exceed 
$75,000 (taxes excluded), direction to proceed with procurement is required from 
the Board to initiate the planting season.  Cataraqui Conservation over the last 3 
years has retained contracted services with a range $97,000 to $148,000.  
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Service costs varies depending upon the location of planting sites, the services 
required at each site and the number of seedlings planted.    
 
Cataraqui Conservation staff through the tendering process will be seeking to 
secure contracted services for 2023 through to 2025.  This will be done by 
providing a 1-year contract with an option to extend the contract annually for up 
to 2 additional years. 

 
 
 
 
6.0 Strategic Plan 

 
This report supports Goal ‘D’ in the Strategic Plan, Cataraqui 2020. 
 
To facilitate protection of natural resources in order to conserve, restore, develop 
or manage them. 

 
• Implement a land management program reflecting the different types of 

properties under CRCA ownership. 
 

• Enhance the Authority's technical advisory program to member municipalities 
and the public to protect or enhance natural areas and functions. 

 
• Manage capital assets in a long-term, sustainable way. 

 
 
 
 
7.0 Input from Other Sources 
 

Cataraqui Conservation staff have received input and direction from Forests 
Ontario and Tree Canada staff regarding program delivery and obtaining 
approvals for the sites to be planted and quantity of trees. 
 
Cataraqui Conservation staff have consulted with the approved nursery suppliers 
with respect to seedling stocks to support the planting of up to 230,000 trees for 
the 2023 season.  
 
Cataraqui Conservation staff will be releasing a request for tenders following 
Cataraqui Conservation’s Procurement Policy.  Submitted tenders will be 
reviewed by the Coordinator, Forestry and the Manager, Conservation Lands to 
select the preferred planting contractor. 
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8.0  Analysis 
 

This project will support afforestation activities throughout our watershed, as one 
means of mitigating climate change.  Planted trees act as carbon sinks and 
provide oxygen.  There are many benefits of planting trees that help to improve 
the health of our watershed, this includes but is not limited to, habitat 
enhancement, erosion control, reclamation of unproductive sites, human health, 
and future forest products.  

 
Cataraqui Conservation staff are required to purchase seedlings to support the 
programs from the approved nursery suppliers.  These suppliers must follow 
strict parameters in the production of nursery stock that is deemed suitable for 
afforestation activities.  In addition, there are over forty (40) other PDAs across 
the province that are seeking seedling stock for their programs, therefore, 
seedling availability can be limited due to high demand.  Cataraqui Conservation 
staff work with staff from the approved nurseries throughout the year to secure 
the required seedling stock. 
 
Somerville Nurseries Inc. will supply the majority of the 225,000 trees, with stock 
also being obtained from Ferguson Tree Nursery (approximately 25,000 Trees). 
 
Cataraqui Conservation has retained planting contractor services since the start 
of the Forests Ontario Program in 2007, the quality of the submissions and the 
work completed by the successful contractor each year has been excellent.   
There are a limited number of contractors available therefore securement early in 
the year is necessary to ensure appropriate coordination between Cataraqui 
Conservation staff and the contractor.  Cataraqui Conservation is seeking to 
secure/retain a contractor for a one year contract with the option of two – 1 year 
extensions for a total period of 3 years. This will allow staff to secure appropriate 
planting contractor services to fulfill anticipated program participation over a 3 
year period. 
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9.0  Financial Implications 
 

Funding to support the afforestation program is provided through the Forest 
Ontario 50 MTP and the Tree Canada (NGP) agreements as well as 
contributions from the participants in the afforestation program. This funding 
covers the anticipated cost of the trees, planting and tending services, and 
Cataraqui Conservation staff administration of the project.   

 
It is anticipated that expenditures will be upwards of $210,000 in 2023 for the 
purchase of forestry products and upwards of $160,000 in 2023 to secure a 
planting contractor.  This value may be higher should additional plantings sites 
be approved by the funding agencies; any increases will be reported to the 
Board. 
 
The program is fully budgeted within the approved 2023 Operating Budget 
through self-funding and requires no Municipal Levy dollar support from our 
member municipalities. 

 
 
 
 
10.0 Conclusion 

 
Staff have adapted to the variety of program changes over the years and are 
proud to emphasize that while being very active throughout our area and 
providing subsidies to encourage engagement, the external sources of funding 
outlined above are sufficient to cover all costs (including staff) to support the 
afforestation initiatives throughout the watershed. The afforestation program 
continues to be a viable and well received program.  Interest is very high for 
these services both with watershed residents, agencies and with our member 
municipalities.   
 
Cataraqui Conservation staff recommend the procurement of the majority of the 
required seedlings from Somerville Nurseries Inc., to support the afforestation 
initiatives for Spring, 2023.  

 
  

128



Page 6 of 6  
Cataraqui Conservation – Report IR-038-23 – Afforestation Program – Seedling and Planting Contractor 
Procurement 
March 22, 2023 
 
 

Staff further recommend that the Board direct staff to move forward with the 
securement of a planting contractor and enter into a contract that allows for 
services to be provided in 2023, 2024 and 2025 following Cataraqui 
Conservation’s Procurement Policy. 

 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 

(Original Signed by) 

Rick Knapton, 
Coordinator, Forestry 

 
 
 
Approved for circulation, Approved for circulation,  

(Original Signed by) (Original Signed by)  

Tom Beaubiah 
Manager, Conservation Lands 

Katrina Furlanetto, M.Env.Sc 
General Manager 

 

 

129



 
Report # IR-039-23 

 
 
 

Date: March 22, 2023 

To: Full Authority Board 

From: Krista Fazackerley 
Supervisor, Communications & Education 
Management Representative, Joint Health & Safety Committee 

 
 
1.0 Type of Report 

Consent Item ☐ 
Item for Board Consideration ☒ 

 
2.0 Topic 

 
Automated External Defibrillator (AED) Policy 

 
 
 
3.0 Recommendations 

 
That Report IR-039-23, Automated External Defibrillator (AED) Policy, Be 
Received; and, 

 
That the Automated External Defibrillator (AED) Policy, Be Adopted for 
implementation starting immediately. 

 
 
 
 
4.0 Purpose 

 
The purpose of this report is to seek Board approval for a new AED Policy and to 
ensure the health and safety of visitors to the Little Cataraqui Creek 
Conservation Area Outdoor Centre.  
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5.0 Background 

 
At the October 26, 2022, Full Authority Board Meeting, Capital Project PR 00354 
was approved to purchase an AED for the Outdoor Centre through a generous 
donation from Wilkens Health and Safety Solutions (IR-125-22 – Proposed 
Capital Project – Automated External Defibrillator (AED) Purchase for Outdoor 
Centre (PR00354)). In the fall of 2022, staff worked with Frontenac Paramedics 
to source the best available AED unit for the Outdoor Centre and it was installed 
in March 2023.  
 
As outlined in report IR-125-22, the Outdoor Centre is a publicly accessible 
building and home to Cataraqui Conservation’s Education and Public Programs. 
These programs along with room rentals and special event bookings see a large 
number of users each year and sometimes thousands of people each day (e.g. 
Maple Madness). Health and safety of Outdoor Centre staff and visitors is of the 
utmost importance and staff identified the need for an AED as part of the health 
and safety program at the Outdoor Centre. 
 
Further to this, the Province of Ontario passed Bill 141, the Defibrillator 
Registration and Public Access Act, 2020 and in June 2020 that increased public 
access to life-saving AEDs. As a result of this legislation, AEDs will be required: 
 

• In public premises 
• In other designated premises 
• To be installed in the correct locations 
• To have appropriate signage 
• To be maintained and tested 
• To be accompanied by training 
• To be registered with 911 

 
This legislation has passed; however, it has not yet taken effect. Cataraqui 
Conservation is not a designated premises and legally does not have to have an 
AED at the Outdoor Centre. Staff recommend that having an AED in the building 
will ensure a lifesaving first aid response is available to staff and the public during 
an emergency. 
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6.0 Strategic Plan 

 
This report supports Goal F in the Strategic Plan, Cataraqui 2020.  
 
To operate an efficient and financially sound organization that provides excellent 
service to the community; promotes best environmental practices; and that offers 
a healthy, positive and nurturing workplace environment for staff, members and 
volunteers.  
 

• Maintain a positive image in the community.  
 

• Make customer service a top priority in all work areas.  
 

• Maximize the efficient use of time and resources to avoid waste.  
 

• Demonstrate leadership in environmental design as well as energy and 
material conservation. 

 
 

• Foster the health, safety, morale and career development of our staff.  
 

• Maintain up-to-date corporate policies.  
 

• Maintain internal capacity in support services such as accounting, 
communications, document management, geomatics and information 
technology.  

 
• Manage capital assets in a long-term, sustainable way. 

 
 
 
 
7.0 Input from Other Sources 

 
Input was provided by: 
 

• Wilkens Health & Safety Solutions 
• Frontenac Paramedics 
• General Manager 
• Senior Management Team 
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8.0 Analysis 

 
To comply with the reporting, maintenance, and training within Bill 141, Cataraqui 
Conservation has created an AED policy to address items outlined in section 5 of 
this report. The policy ensures that employees are provided with appropriate 
guidelines on the safe use of the AED and outlines requirements that Cataraqui 
Conservation must meet. 
 
The AED Policy, Standard Operating Procedure (SOP), and Maintenance Log 
are attached to this staff report. 

 
 
 
 
9.0 Financial Implications 

 
There are no financial implications associated with this report. 

 
 
 
 
10.0 Conclusion 

 
To comply with Bill 141 and to support a culture of health and safety, Cataraqui 
Conservation has developed an AED Policy. This policy will enhance the 
organization’s health and safety program, comply with upcoming legislation, and 
provide training and awareness of this lifesaving equipment.  

 
 
 
Respectfully submitted,  Approved for circulation, 

(Original signed by)  (Original signed by) 

Krista Fazackerley 
Supervisor, Communications & 

Education 

 Katrina Furlanetto, M.Env.Sc 
General Manager 

 
 
 
Attachments: 
 

1) P00022 Automated External Defibrillator (AED) Policy (Draft) 
2) SOP-0033-Automated External Defibrillator (AED) Use (Draft) 
3) Appendix A Maintenance Log 
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Automated External Defibrillator 
(AED) Policy 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Document No. Cataraqui Conservation P00022 Rev. Revision # Original 
Issue 

Prepared by: Krista Fazackerley Date: 02/22/2023 

 Supervisor, Communications & 
Education 
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Adoption / Document Revisions 

 
 

Revision Date 
(mm/dd/yy) 

Description of Changes Report # 

0 03-22-23 Original Issue (Adopted by Full Authority Resolution XXX-XX) IR-XXX-XX 
1    
2    
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Table of Contents 
 
 

1 General Policy ..................................................................................................... 4 

2 Definitions ........................................................................................................... 4 

3 Application .......................................................................................................... 4 

 
See Also: 
SOP-0033-Automated External Defibrillator Use 
Appendix A – Maintenance Log   
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1 General Policy 
 
Cataraqui Conservation has adopted this policy to ensure the health and safety of 
visitors to the Outdoor Centre who may suffer cardiac arrest. This policy ensures that 
employees are provided with appropriate guidelines on the safe use of an automated 
external defibrillator (AED) and outlines requirements that Cataraqui Conservation must 
meet. 
 

2 Definitions 
 
Automated external defibrillator (AED) 
An automated external medical heart monitor and defibrillator that is capable of 
recognizing the presence or absence of ventricular fibrillation or rapid ventricular 
tachycardia, determining whether defibrillation should be performed without intervention 
by an operator, and automatically charging and requesting delivery of an electrical 
impulse to an individual’s heart as medically required. 
Cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) 
An emergency substitution of heart and lung action through chest compression to make 
the heart pump combines with mouth-to-mouth ventilation. 
Designated premises 
Premises accessible to the public that are designated by the Defibrillator Registration 
and Public Access Act, 2020 

 

3 Application 
 
Note: Workplaces must have at least one person onsite at all times who has a valid first 
aid certificate. If an incident occurs in the workplace where an AED is required, keep 
record of the treatment provided and complete the WSIB Form 7 

Cataraqui Conservation will ensure that: 

• AEDs are installed at the premises in accordance with regulations. 
• AEDs installed at the premises are easily accessible.  
• The location of an AED at the premises is appropriately indicated with signs. 
• AEDS are maintained and tested in accordance with the manufacturer’s 

guidelines (see Appendix B) 
• Training is provided to designated employees on the use of an AED and only 

those employees with valid First Aid + CPR should use the AED. As per 
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legislation the AED is in an easily accessible area and any member of the public 
can use the AED in an emergency situation.  

 
Registration of Defibrillator 
Every person who owns or operates designated premises or public premises at which 
an AED is installed will register the AED with the Ontario Registrar within 30 days after it 
is installed. 
If a registered AED is moved to a different location, or is removed from the premises for 
any reason, Cataraqui Conservation will notify the Registrar in accordance with the 
regulations.  
Cataraqui Conservation will also notify designated employees who are trained to 
operate the device if a new AED has been registered or moved. 
Cataraqui Conservation will comply with any inspection conducted for the purpose of 
determining compliance and may be required to provide evidence of documents such as 
registration of AED and training.  
Neither Cataraqui Conservation nor its employees will: 

• Violate the requirements listed in the Defibrillator Registration and Public Access 
Act, 2020. 

• Obstruct, hinder, or interfere with an inspection. 
• Provide false or misleading information to an inspector or conceal or destroy 

anything relevant to an inspection. 
 
Location 
The AED is located at: 

• The main floor (left corner) of the Outdoor Centre by the washroom entrances. 
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Automatic External Defibrillator 
(AED) Use SOP # 0033 

Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority 
1641 Perth Road, PO Box 160, Glenburnie ON, K0H 1S0 • info@crca.ca • 613-546-4228 • CataraquiConservation.ca 

Standard Operating Procedure 
Department: All Departments Revision Date: 0 

Created: March 22, 2023 Revision Number: 0 

Authored By: Krista Fazackerley 
Supervisor, Communications & Education 

Purpose and Objectives 
Cataraqui Conservation has an obligation under the Occupational Health and Safety Act 
(OHSA) to take all necessary precautions to protect the health and safety of its workers.  

This procedure ensure that employees are provided with appropriate guidelines on the safe use 
of an automated external defibrillator (AED) and outlines record keeping and maintenance 
schedules that Cataraqui Conservation must meet. 

We are adopting this procedure to promote and support the wellbeing of our employees, 
customers, visitors, and service-providers.  

Responsibilities 
Cataraqui Conservation is responsible for: 

• Training is provided to designated employees on the use of an AED.
• AEDs are maintained and tested in accordance with the manufacturer’s guidelines.

All employees working with Cataraqui Conservation are responsible for: 

• Following health and safety guidelines and appropriate SOPs and Policy.
• Taking part in training or updating training when current certificates expire or when

designated by their Manager or Supervisor.

Procedure 
If you witness an individual experiencing cardiac arrest, or a collapse of an unknown reason call 
911 immediately.  

1. Tap the patient’s shoulder and shout. A person in cardiac arrest will not respond.
2. Check for breathing by listening next to the patient’s mouth and looking for chest

movement. Use the defibrillator only if the patient is not responding, and not breathing or
only gasping. If in doubt, use the defibrillator.

Draf
t

139



 Automatic External Defibrillator  
(AED) Use SOP # 0033 
 
 

Page 2 of 3 
 

3. Place the defibrillator near the patient and on the side next to you. Open the lid to turn 
on the defibrillator. The defibrillator will guide you through the appropriate steps. NOTE: 
if the defibrillator does not turn on or the lid is missing, press the on/off button. 

4. Remove all clothing, including undergarments, from the patient’s chest. If the chest is 
excessively hairy and a razor is readily available, quickly shave the hair in the area 
where you will place the electrode pads. If the chest is dirty or wet, wipe the chest clean 
and dry. If there are medicine patches on the patient’s chest, remove them. Know your 
surroundings and keep the dignity of the patient in mind. If time allows, ask another staff 
person or member of the public to assist in keeping on lookers back and away from the 
area while the AED is being used.  

5. If the defibrillator is a dual-language model, a voice prompt occurs at this time in the 
secondary language. This voice prompt instructs you to press the Language button to 
switch to the secondary language (if desired)  

6. If the patient is a child less than 8 years old or who weighs less than 55lbs, press the 
child mode button to enter Child mode. To switch back to Adult mode, press the child 
mode button again. AED should not be used on children under one year of age. 

7. Pull the red handle to reveal the electrode pads. 
8. Pull the loops on the electrode pads to peel the pads from tray. 
9. Apply the pads to the patient’s bare chest as shown in Appendix A (upper left, and lower 

right). If possible, avoid placing the pads over broken skin. Be sure to press firmly so that 
the pads completely adhere to the patient’s chest. NOTE: be sure you do not place the 
electrode pads over an implanted device such as implanted pacemaker. An indication of 
an implant is a protrusion in the chest skin and a scar. NOTE: ensure the pads are at 
least 1” apart. If the patient’s chest is too small, place the pads on the chest and back as 
shown in Appendix A in the child pictures on the pads. 

10. Listen to the voice prompts and do not touch the patient unless instructed to do so. 
11. If the defibrillator heart rhythm analysis determines that a shock is needed you will hear 

everyone clear, followed by one of these two options: 
a. If you have a semi-automatic model, you will hear press flashing button. Press 

the flashing shock button and deliver a shock. 
b. If you have a fully automatic model, you will hear do not touch the patient 

followed by delivering shock. The defibrillator will automatically deliver a shock 
without requiring further action. 

12. Do not touch the patient while a shock is being delivered. 
13. The defibrillator will instruct you to begin chest compressions. The defibrillator will 

provide instructions for hand placement during the chest compressions, and ‘tocks’ at 
the correct compression rate. You may also be instructed to provide rescue breaths, 
depending on the settings for the defibrillator. 

14. Continue to follow the voice prompts and provide chest compressions when instructed 
until one of the following occurs: 

a. The patient begins breathing regularly or moving. 
b. Emergency medical personnel arrive and tell you to stop. 

Do not remove the pads or disconnect them from the defibrillator unless emergency 
medical personnel instruct you to do so. 

 
An illustrated version of how to use an AED is at then end of this document. Also view the 
instructional video at https://www.stryker.com/us/en/training-and-education/medical-and-
surgical-equipment--/emergency-care/emergency-care/video/lifepak-cr2--using-a-semi-
automatic-aed-on-an-adult.html 
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What to do After Using Your Defibrillator 
After the use of your defibrillator to respond to a cardiac arrest, the following tasks will be 
completed as soon as possible by the Coordinator, Little Cataraqui Creek: 
 

1. If the defibrillator is turned on, press and hold the on/off button for approximately 3 
seconds to turn it off. 

2. Clean the defibrillator and its accessories according to the instructions provided in the 
Manual on page 84. Use only the cleaning agents listed. The AED manual is located in 
the main Outdoor Centre office in the grey file cabinet. 

3. The QUIK-STEP electrode tray must be replated after it is opened, even if the electrodes 
were not used. 

4. Install the new electrodes according to the instructions provided in the AED manual on 
page 81. 

5. Close the lid and verify that the Readiness indicator flashes every 6 seconds. 
 

Cataraqui Conservation Reporting Procedure 
After use of the AED, and you have supported Emergency Services with all info related to the 
incident, call a supervisor immediately (Coordinator Little Cataraqui Creek or Supervisor, 
Communications & Education).  
 
The staff member who used the AED will fill out a Cataraqui Conservation Incident Form to keep 
record of the incident and de-brief with the Coordinator Little Cataraqui Creek and/or 
Supervisor, Communications & Education.  
 
After the incident the Joint Health and Safety Committee should be notified along with Senior 
Management. The Coordinator, Little Cataraqui Creek and Supervisor, Communications & 
Education will work with the Supervisor, Finance to submit a WSIB Form 7 within three days of 
the incident. 
 

AED Replacement & Maintenance Log 
The AED battery has a 4-year replacement cycle, please see page 29 of the AED manual for 
the battery replacement date.  
 
The AED maintenance log will be printed and located in the main office of the Outdoor Centre, 
posted in the first aid area. The Coordinator, Little Cataraqui Creek will be responsible for filling 
out the maintenance log monthly. 
 
See Chapter 77 “Caring for the Defibrillator” in the AED manual. 
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Friends of Lemoine Point 

Minutes of Board Meeting: December 5, 2022 

 

Present: Karen Samis, John Diemer, Ron Bettney, Peter Butler, Paul Musiol, Sandra McCance, Roberta Panter, Mary Ann 
Milne, Rick Knapton, Ross McGowan 

Regrets: None 

Also in attendance was Tom Beaubiah Cataraqui Region Conservation Authority (Cataraqui Conservation) 

The meeting was held at the Cataraqui Conservation office in the Lemoine Point workshop. 

The meeting opened at 13:05 hrs with President Karen Samis in the chair.  

1. Approval of Agenda: The Agenda had been distributed by email. 

2. Minutes of Previous Meeting: November minutes - discussion of finance meeting should remove reference to 
reconciliation. Add back in a note about discussion of nursery finances with CRCA at a later date. 

3. Business Arising: Regarding the opportunity for Friends to tell their stories that was discussed at the last meeting, 
Sandra reported that Athen MacDonald is willing to share her story of afforestation of their property north of Kingston 
in collaboration with Cataraqui Conservation provided the specific location of the property is not divulged. Sandra will 
talk to Krista about this. Regarding complimentary Friends membership for Councillors who sit on the Cataraqui 
Conservation board, Karen reported that she has been in touch with Wendy Stephen. Membership records have been 
updated to reflect Ms. Stephen’s membership. 

4. New Business: Agenda item for future meeting - qualifications and process for selecting/electing board members. 

5. Treasurer’s Report: Ron had distributed the November financial report prior to the meeting. Membership and 
donations totalled about $500. Little other activity. 

As part of a follow-up discussion on spending, Karen reviewed the contents of the record of historical investments and 
expenses, file name Friends of Lemoine Point Significant Expenses Log that Ron had provided the data for. After a few 
additions/revisions based on feedback, there was general agreement that this was reasonably reflective of the Friends’ 
activities over the years, and that our expenses in recent years have been low. The file will be distributed for further 
comments with these draft minutes. 

The historical and future trends for revenue and expenses were discussed, including the fact that the Board has not 
needed to support operational and infrastructure demands as much as it used to (e.g. hoop house and other nursery 
infrastructure) when the memorial bench project was carried out, it was intended that the revenues would be used to 
accomplish biodiversity projects, but there have been challenges with bringing these projects to fruition It was also 
noted that CRCA makes an effort to not rely on cash contributions from the Friends to meet operational expenses at the 
conservation area. 

There was some brainstorming of projects that the Board could be discussing and supporting financially in the new year. 
Ideas generated included: renewed tree planting methods (proposal to develop an action plan), initiatives to build 
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volunteer engagement (requires discussion), and the Talking Forests/Trails initiative by the CRCA that we have already 
agreed to support in principle. 

6. Cataraqui Conservation:  There is interest in pursuing the grassland habitat restoration and Bobolink/Meadowlark 
revitalization project in the south field. As discussed last year, this would involve control of the gray dogwood, re-
seeding the area and regular removal of the grass to maintain the habitat. Funding may be available from the Grassland 
Stewardship Initiative (Rick indicated he had plans to apply). The issue will be raised with the Cataraqui Board (Tom). 
There will be a planning meeting organized by CRCA at the workshop 10 am December 15. Roberta, Ross and Sandra 
plan to attend, Ross will extend an invitation to Larry McCurdy (Friends member and KFN member) representing 
Kingston Field Naturalists. Trail improvements are being completed. A contract has been established to resurface the 
south laneway. That work will occur in the coming weeks, and will require closure of the laneway for a few days. Notices 
have been posted on trails and the website. 

7. Native Plant Nursery: The nursery is being monitored daily through the winter by volunteers. The front gate seems to 
have fixed itself.  Cataraqui conservation’s tree planting contractor is planning to purchase $1600 of trees from the 
nursery. CRCA will be changing the combinations on the NPN locks. 

8. Invasive Species: A patch of periwinkle (Vinca minor) was reported by a Friend’s member in November. Details in file 
Vinca minor observation 2022 11 15.pdf. Roberta said that she would go have a look for it, Ross will provide details to 
her. 

9. Decision/Action Item log: Ross briefly reviewed the decision and action item log file and noted some areas that 
required updating. The updated version will be sent out with the minutes of this meeting. 

 10. Next Meeting: February 2023. Karen will distribute a list of proposed meeting dates/times for discussion and 
finalization. 

Meeting closed at 2:50 pm 

Attachments:  

1. FLP BoD Decision and Action Item Logs 2022 12 05 DRAFT.docx 
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Report # IR-040-23 

 
 
 

Date: March 22, 2023 

To: Full Authority Board 

From: Donna Campbell, 
Assistant, Chair & General Manager 

 
 
1.0 Type of Report 

Consent Item ☒ 
Item for Board Consideration ☐ 

 
2.0 Topic 

 
Report on Communications 

 
 
3.0 Recommendations 
 

That report IR-040-23, Report on Communications, Be Received. 
 

ITEM DETAILS 

1.  Cataraqui Conservation 
 
• News Release dated March 2023, re:  Meet Our New Board Chair - An 

Interview with Gary Oosterhof 
 

• News Release dated March 2023, re:  Meet Our New Board Vice Chair - 
An Interview with Paul Proderick 

2.  Ministry of Natural Resource and Forestry (MNRF) 
 
• Letter MNRF to Loyalist Township (cc Cataraqui Conservation) dated 

March 9, 2023 re: Citizen Appointment Exemption Denied 

 
Respectfully submitted,  Approved for circulation, 

(Original signed by)  (Original signed by) 

Donna Campbell, 
Assistant, Chair & General Manager 

 Katrina Furlanetto, M.Env.Sc 
General Manager 

 

148



Meet Our New Board Chair - An Interview with Gary Oosterhof 
 

Page 1 of 3 

 
As with all Conservation Authorities within the Province of Ontario, Cataraqui 
Conservation is governed by a Board of Directors, referred to as the Full Authority 
Board. It is comprised of representatives from each of the municipalities within the 
jurisdiction of Cataraqui Conservation, known as the Cataraqui Watershed, or 
sometimes the Cataraqui Region. 

Board members are deputized by their respective municipal Council’s with most of 
these representatives being municipal councillors themselves. In a few cases, citizens 
may be appointed to a Conservation Authority Board with permission from the Ministry 
of Natural Resources and Forestry. Cataraqui Conservation’s Board is comprised of 17 
board members, representing 11 municipalities and after the fall 2022 municipal election 
has welcomed 11 new members. 

At it’s 2023 Annual General Meeting, the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority held an 
election for a new leadership slate, with current City of Kingston Councillor Gary 
Oosterhof being elected chairperson for the year. Councillor Paul Proderick of Loyalist 
Township was elected vice-chairperson. Oosterhof had previously served as vice-chair 
and has been on the Full Authority Board since 2017. 

Living in Glenburnie, and representing the Countryside District on Kingston council, the 
current administrative building, Outdoor Centre and indeed all of Little Cataraqui Creek 
Conservation Area are practically in his backyard. Due to his desire to live a more rustic 
and rural lifestyle, Gary also has a natural appreciation and affinity for the role and 
mission of Cataraqui Conservation to conserve and enhance the natural landscape. 

According to his City of Kingston biography, Oosterhof has owned his own electrical 
contracting business since 1991, serves on the Board of the Electrical Safety Authority 
of Ontario and is a long-time member of the Kingston Electrical Association. Prior to 
this, for two decades he represented local Licensed Electrical Contractors with the 
Ontario Electrical League. 

What follows is a short interview conducted with Oosterhof not long after chairing his 
first Full Authority Board meeting: 

Q: Before coming to be on the board, what did you know about Cataraqui 
Conservation and the work that we do? 

GO: Before coming to the Full Authority Board, I was mostly just familiar with the Little 
Cat [Little Cataraqui Creek Conservation Area] I suppose. Maple Madness and the trails 
were always a favourite for my family and it was always a positive experience.  
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Q: You are a member of Kingston City Council, why did you decide to throw your 
hat into the municipal political ring? 

GO: Being a member of Kingston City Council, and representing the Countryside 
District is something I am proud of and feel it is a real honour. I remember the first time I 
thought about it and I just knew in my heart I was called to do it, and be a positive and 
encouraging voice for my constituents and a really great city. 

Q: Why did you decide to join the board of Cataraqui Conservation? 

GO: I decided quickly to be on the Full Authority Board of Cataraqui Conservation as 
soon as I became aware of the possibility. It was a no brainer: I live a few minutes away 
and I live and breathe its mission. 

Q: What do you see as the role and responsibilities of a council rep on the Full 
Authority Board? 

GO: My role is to wear two hats; I represent the City of Kingston’s interests and speak 
to its values and responsibilities as well I represent the Full Authority Board so that 
decisions are made on a watershed scale. I am always studying what good governance 
looks like and acts like, so I am always wanting to ask the right questions and enable 
those with the responsibility for running the Authority to complete their work well and 
excel. 

Q: During your time on the board, what have you learned about the work of 
Cataraqui Conservation and the importance of that work? 

GO: There really isn’t enough time and space for this answer. But I have learned a lot 
and continue to learn and have come to really appreciate the Board meetings and 
presentations and understanding the size of our [jurisdiction] and the environmental 
responsibility that we all carry in such a large area. 

Q: What do you think the main priorities of Cataraqui Conservation will be or 
should be moving forward? 

GO: Wow, another big question! Managing the fallout of Bill 23. Building a strong 
relationship with all partner municipalities. Securing a strong budget while maintaining 
our programs, building on our public relationships, and continuing to develop our 
positive educational programs. 

Q: Why did you decide to take on a leadership position on the Authority Board 
(running for vice-chair and then chairperson)? 

GO: I really didn’t decide to take on a leadership role.. It just evolved, and I am 
honoured to serve in this way. 
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Q: What do you see is the role of the chairperson of the Cataraqui Conservation 
Full Authority Board? 

GO: My role as chair is to lead well, listen well, to encourage and come alongside our 
staff, directors and managers. I will work to build relationships with the entire Board and 
move us forward amidst the challenges of today. 

Q: What skills, traits, do you bring to the table as the chairperson of the 
organization? 

GO: I have been in leadership roles since my youth. I enjoy people, and seeing things 
and events run well. In my professional career, I have represented my industry 
[electrical] for 20 years, and served on many committees. So, it is what I do and enjoy, 
and hope to make a positive difference along the way. 

Q: What do you think makes the Cataraqui Region special as a place to live, work 
and raise a family? 

GO: The things that make the Cataraqui Region special are the people and the places 
where we live. Being raised in Eastern Ontario is so great, and knowing the lakes and 
waterways and trails just connects us to deeper beauty and a world that is endlessly 
discoverable. It is simply one of the best places in the world to live and work and raise a 
family, And I should know, I have done it and am doing it still! 

 

March 2023 
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A first-time member of the Cataraqui Conservation Full Authority Board, Paul Proderick 
is also a first-time municipal councillor, representing Ward 3 in Loyalist Township, after 
being elected in 2022. 

A resident of Amherstview since the late 1970s, according to his official biography, 
“Paul grew up in the family business Amherstview Golf Club and pursued an Arts 
Degree in Geography at Carleton University upon graduation from Ernestown 
Secondary School. A Degree in Education from the University of Ottawa led to a three-
decade career in education with the Algonquin & Lakeshore CDSB. During this time, he 
also completed a master’s degree in Education at The State University of New York.” 

Before choosing to run for council, Paul served on a number of municipal and 
community committees, including the Planning Committee of the former Ernestown 
Township, two terms on the Loyalist Township Recreation Committee and a term on 
the township Renewable Energy Fund Grant Review Committee. 

What follows is a conversation with Paul regarding his involvement on the Full Authority 
Board: 

Q: Before coming to be on the board, what did you know about Cataraqui 
Conservation and the work that we do? 

PP: As an educator for almost 30 years I had the opportunity to participate in the 
programming offered by Cataraqui Conservation.  Many students who might not have 
the chance to develop an appreciation of nature and all the possibilities in it were given 
a chance through the programming. As parents we took advantage of the programs 
offered throughout the years whenever we had the chance. 

Q: You are a member of Loyalist Township Council, why did you decide to throw 
your hat into the municipal political ring? 

PP: I’ve always had an interest in politics and ran for council in 2018 and was 
unsuccessful. Last election I was successful. I believe my previous career prepared me 
well for this position. I believe I have something to add to our community. 
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Q: Why did you decide to join the board of Cataraqui Conservation? 

PP: My interest in Cataraqui Conservation was stemmed by my previous experiences 
with the association. I felt I could share my background especially in the programming 
area. The communities served by the authority have a unique relationship within the 
area. The urban/rural divide allows families opportunities to see many aspects of 
community. The authority provides families who may live in the more urban areas of the 
region to experience the beauty of the nature around us that we often take for granted. 

Q: What do you see as the role and responsibilities of a municipal council rep on 
the Full Authority Board? 

PP: As a municipal rep I see my role is to represent the townships interests that elected 
me while at the same time balancing the needs and goals of the conservation authority. 

Q: During your short time on the board thus far, what have you learned about the 
mandate and mission of Cataraqui Conservation? 

PP: One thing I have learned about the mission of the authority is the importance of 
providing programs to serve those in the various community who may not have the 
means or opportunities to enjoy the programs provided by Cataraqui Conservation. In 
my short time I’ve learned the authority is more than programming for the public. 
Maintaining protected lands, operating conservation areas, boat ramps, water control, 
planting trees, monitoring water quality and the reviewing of planning applications are 
services provided by the authority that many may not be aware of. 

Q: Why did you decide to take on a leadership position on the Authority Board 
(running for vice-chair)? 

PP: I was encouraged by others to take on the role as vice-chair and allowed my name 
to stand. I look forward to the opportunity to extend my understanding of the authority 
and support its mandate. 

Q: What do you see is the role of the vice-chairperson of the Cataraqui 
Conservation Full Authority Board? 

PP: The role of the vice-chair in my view is to assist the needs of the chair and to be 
available to the staff of Cataraqui Conservation in any way I can while supporting the 
authority’s goals. I look forward to the challenges ahead! 

Q: What skills, traits, do you bring to the table as a board member and vice-chair 
of the organization? 

PP: I have acquired numerous skills which have prepare me for this role. Interpersonal 
skills, budgeting, chairing committees and my experiences in human resources are just 
a few of the areas that I can offer to the authority. 
 

March 2023 
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